Cryopreservation of Boar Semen

Impact of the Use of Specific Ejaculate Portions, Concentrated Packaging, and Simplified Freezing Procedures on Sperm Cryosurvival and Potential Fertilising Capacity

> Fernando Saravia Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Division of Reproduction, Department of Clinical Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2008 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2008:98

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-86195-31-1 © 2008 Fernando Saravia, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2008 Cryopreservation of Boar Semen. Impact of the Use of Specific Ejaculate Portions, Concentrated Packaging, and Simplified Freezing Procedures on Sperm Cryosurvival and Potential Fertilising Capacity

Abstract

Generally, spermatozoa from most boars survive poorly the customary process of cryopreservation. Post-thaw (PT) survivors often show unstable membranes, short life-span, and low fertilising capacity when artificial insemination (AI) is used. This thesis aimed at improving this situation by (i) freezing high sperm numbers in novel packages (MiniFlatPacks[™], MFP) and exploring their degree of PT-survival in vitro and fertility in vivo using deep intrauterine AI (DIU-AI). Moreover, it attempted to find out (ii) why particular portions of the ejaculate better resist cryopreservation and (iii) whether the process could be made attractive for routine use. Spermatozoa from the sperm-rich fraction of the ejaculate (SRF) were densely $(2 \times 10^9 \text{ sperm/mL})$ packed into MFP, frozen and studied post-thaw, alongside controls handled in plastic straws. Cells handled in MFP survived better in vitro than controls. In vivo, single DIU-AIs of these spermatozoa led, despite the very low volume inseminated, to pregnancies, fertilisation rates being higher in MFP than controls, when the interval between DIU-AI and ovulation was -8 to -4 h. Two specific portions of the ejaculate, namely the first 10 mL from the SRF (P1) and (P2) i.e. the rest of the SRF and the post-sperm fraction, were further tested for their resilience to extension, cooling and freezing-thawing in vitro, using a battery of tests for kinematics, membrane integrity/stability and chromatin intactness. Most often, P1spermatozoa best sustained all handling procedures, revealing that capacitation-like sperm destabilisation did not occur during controlled cooling. Such in vitro resilience was not intrinsically sperm-related, but differently influenced by the seminal plasma (SP) of the portions (SP-P1, SP-P2). Pooled SP-P1 (with fewer and different proteins, as well as less bicarbonate, than SP-P2) was able to increase PT motility of cleansed P2-spermatozoa to P1 levels. Using all previous findings, a final study was designed to simplify cryopreservation, by freezing P1 in MFP with a shorter (from 8 to 3.5 h) freezing protocol (SF), excluding primary extension and removal of SP by centrifugation. The P1-SF-processed spermatozoa in MFP survived the process equally as well as SRF controls, but without variation among males or ejaculates, implying that this simpler freezing protocol could be advantageously applied to build genetic banks or commercialise frozen semen primarily for DIU-AI using P1. The P2 could still be used for production of conventional AI doses, allowing the AI enterprise to maintain routine management of commercially relevant stud boars.

Keywords: Semen cryopreservation, Artificial insemination (AI), Flow cytometry, Computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA), Ejaculate portions, Bicarbonate, Seminal plasma (SP), Boar.

Author's address: Fernando Saravia, Division of Reproduction, Department of Clinical Sciences, SLU, Box 7054, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. *E-Mail:* fernando.saravia@kv.slu.se

Dedication

A Francisca, María Isidora and Sebastián Mis nenes

Contents

List of Publications	9
Abbreviations 1	1
Introduction 1	3
Aims of the study 1	9
Material and methods 2	21
Animals 2	!1
Collection of semen 2	!1
Seminal plasma separation 2	22
Determination of seminal pH and bicarbonate concentrations	_
(Paper V, Exp I) 2	22
Sperm motility changes during liquid storage	
of semen in extenders with various concentrations	
of bicarbonate (Paper V, Exp II) 2	2
Sperm cryopreservation 2	23
Sperm evaluation 2	24
Assessment of sperm kinematics 2	24
Assessment of sperm plasma membrane status 2	25
Sperm chromatin structure assay (Paper IV) 2	26
Assessement of acrosome integrity (Paper V) 2	27
Artificial Insemination (Paper II) 2	27
Detection of oestrus and ovulation 2	27
Deep intrauterine insemination technique 2	27
Statistical analyses 2	28
Results 2	29
Freezing of highly concentrated semen in MFP and MS (Paper I) 2	29
Fertility after DIU-AI of highly concentrated sperm doses (Paper II) 2	29
Changes in sperm viability and membrane stability during various steps of	
cryopreservation: differences between elaculate portions	
(Paper III) 3	30
Effect of seminal plasma in cryopreservation (Paper IV) 3	81
Bicarbonate concentrations and pH in different portions/fractions	
of the boar ejaculate (Paper V,Exp I) 3	32

Sperm motility during storage in different		
bicarbonate concentrations (Paper V,Exp II)	3 2	
Simplification of the freezing of boar semen (Paper V,Exp III)		
Discussion	3 5	
Conclusions	49	
References	5 1	
Acknowledgements	6 1	

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Nagy, S., Johannisson, A. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2005). Deep freezing of concentrated boar semen for intra-uterine insemination: effects on sperm viability. *Theriogenology* 63(5), 1320-1333.
- II Wongtawan, T., Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Caballero, I. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H (2006). Fertility after deep intra-uterine artificial insemination of concentrated low-volume boar semen doses. *Theriogenology* 65(4), 773-787.
- III Saravia, F., Hernández, M., Wallgren, M., Johannisson, A. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2007). Controlled cooling during semen cryopreservation does not induce capacitation of spermatozoa from two portions of the boar ejaculate. *International Journal of Andrology* 30(6), 485-499.
- IV Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Johannisson, A., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Peña, F.J., Roca, J. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2008). Exposure to the seminal plasma of different portions of the boar ejaculate modulates the survival of spermatozoa cryopreserved in MiniFlatPacks. *Theriogenology* (In press).
- V Saravia, F., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. Freezing of boar semen can be simplified by handling a specific portion of the ejaculate with a shorter procedure and MiniFlatPack packaging. (Submitted for publication).

Papers I-IV are reproduced with permission of the publishers.

Abbreviations

AI	Artificial insemination
AN	Annexin-V
AQN	Alanine-Glutamine-Asparagine (heparin-binding) seminal
	plasma spermadhesin
ASMA	Automated sperm morphology analysis
AWN	Alanine-Tryptophan-Asparagine (heparin binding) seminal
	plasma spermadhesin
Bic-0	Extender without bicarbonate
BTS	Beltsville thawing solution
CASA	Computer-assisted sperm analysis
CF	Conventional freezing
DFI	DNA fragmentation index
DIU-AI	Deep intrauterine insemination
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EU	European Union
FC	Flow cytometer
FT	Frozen-thawed
GLM	General linear model
LEY	Lactose-egg yolk
LEYGO	Lactose-egg yolk, glycerol and Orvus-ES-Paste
LHD	Lateral head displacement
M-54 0	Merocyanine-540
MFP	MiniFlatPack™
MS	Medium-straw
P1	Portion 1, 10 first mL of the sperm-rich fraction of the boar
	ejaculate
P2	Portion 2, the rest of the sperm-rich fraction and the post-
	sperm fraction of the boar ejaculate

P1CENSP2	Centrifugation of P1 and addition of SP2
P2CENSP1	Centrifugation of P2 and addition of SP1
PI	Propidium iodide
PMI	Plasma membrane integrity
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PSF	Pre-sperm fraction of the boar ejaculate
PSP-I	Porcine seminal plasma protein I
PSP-II	Porcine seminal plasma protein II
PSRF	Post-sperm-rich fraction of the boar ejaculate
RT	Room temperature
SAS	Statistical analysis systems
SCSA	Sperm chromatin structure assay
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SF	Simplified freezing
SFP	SingleFlatPack™
sHOST	Short hypo-osmotic swelling test
SP	Seminal plasma
SP-P1	Seminal plasma from P1
SP-P2	Seminal plasma from P2
SR	Sperm reservoir
SRF	Sperm-rich fraction of the boar ejaculate
TUS	Transrectal ultrasonography
UTJ	Uterotubal junction
VAP	Average path velocity
VCL	Curvilinear velocity
VSL	Straight linear velocity
X-DFI	Mean DNA fragmentation index

Introduction

Artificial insemination (AI) is a crucial tool to improve global swine populations (Gerrits *et al.*, 2005); basically because it is the most developed and applied biotechnology in pig breeding [rev. by (Rodríguez-Martínez, 2007a)]. Globally, numbers of AIs increased almost exponentially from 6.6% at the start of the 1980s (Reed, 1982) to more than 80% 20 years later (Wagner & Thibier, 2000). Around 99% of those AIs are done with liquid, extended semen, briefly stored (few days) between 16 and 20°C (Wagner & Thibier, 2000). In the European Union (EU) ~84% of all sows/gilts are bred by AI (Feitsma, personal communication). Historically, and on a worldwide basis, the use of frozen-thawed (FT) semen has remained very low, from less than 0.5% in 1985 (Reed, 1985) to ~1% at the beginning of this century (Wagner & Thibier, 2000). Such levels persist (Thibier, personal communication), despite the keen interest of breeding companies in the further development of this biotechnology, since FT-semen could be used in situations in which the widely used fresh or chilled semen, cannot.

What are these anticipated uses? There are several, ranging from gene banking for conservation of genetic diversity and insurance for losses of males (in cases, for instance, of compulsory slaughter due to any infectious outbreak or the elimination of certain breeding lines that eventually result in losses of valuable genetics, or even in case of accidents with superior individuals having particular desirable traits) to commercial advantages. Among the latter, we can enumerate the incorporation of superior genetics to nucleus herds, or the commercialisation of genetics in the international exchange area. In this respect, sales of frozen semen, instead of the customary selling of livestock, imply a better sanitary safeguard of the material *per se*. Samples of semen can be kept frozen until the semen, or the boars that provided those samples, are tested for agents that could be transmitted via semen, thus providing a better warranty for the buyer and a higher standard for the seller (Yoshida, 2000). However, these expectations are over-shadowed by problems associated with cryopreservation procedures and their post-thaw results, which underlie the restricted use of FT-boar semen. Compared with spermatozoa preserved suspended in liquid extender throughout, the FT-spermatozoa still show a lower survival rate, and many of those cells surviving the process show a shorter lifespan in vitro (Larsson & Einarsson, 1976; Waberski et al., 1994; Johnson et al., 2000; Kumar et al., 2003). Obviously, AI with such spermatozoa has resulted in farrowing rates of ~70-80% under controlled breeding management conditions, which are lower than the >90% achieved by conventional AI of liquid semen (Eriksson et al., 2002; Bolarín et al., 2006). Further compromising the outcome for the common breeder are the smaller litter sizes after AI of FTsemen, 2-3 piglets fewer than when liquid semen is used (Johnson, 1985; Almlid & Hofmo, 1996). Additionally, the whole process of freezing an ejaculate is cumbersome, involving many steps and taking more than 8 h from collection to storage of the few doses (often less than 10 doses at 5 imes10[°] spermatozoa/dose) produced, implying that not many females are finally inseminated with one ejaculate (if two cervical AIs are to be performed per oestrus).

Procedures for cryopreservation of boar semen are periodically reviewed (Bwanga, 1991; Johnson *et al.*, 2000; Großfeld *et al.*, 2008), enumerating the developments over time, including the resulting fertility of FT-semen. While several additives and changes in the speed of cooling and thawing have been tested, the overall procedure is basically still the same, most methods simply modifying the classical protocol reported by Westendorf more than 30 years ago (Westendorf *et al.*, 1975). Some modifications, which have shown impact *in vitro* [related to post-thaw sperm survival (Eriksson & Rodríguez-Martínez, 2000a) and oocyte penetration ability (Eriksson *et al.*, 2001)], as well as *in vivo* [in terms of on-farm fertility (Eriksson *et al.*, 2002)] involved the use of an alternative package (FlatPackTM) which, containing $5 \times 10^{\circ}$ cells in 5 mL, represented a complete, single AI dose. Unfortunately, as remarked before, such single dosage contains about 10% of the total number of spermatozoa commonly processed per ejaculate.

Can the sperm number per AI dose be decreased? This question has been discussed in the past (Polge *et al.*, 1970; Krueger *et al.*, 1999; Krueger & Rath, 2000; Roca *et al.*, 2003), but considering that deposition of a large volume (~80–100 mL) containing 5×10^9 spermatozoa during cervical AI is usually followed by a reflux of the inseminate from the female genitalia,

there is a fear of decreasing the number of FT-spermatozoa used, risking birth of fewer piglets (Viring & Einarsson, 1981; Steverink et al., 1998; Levis et al., 2002). On the other hand, alternative techniques for AI have evolved, attempting the deposition of semen into the uterus, in lower volumes, and possibly containing fewer spermatozoa per dose. Such transcervical sperm deposition could either be done in the uterine body (Watson & Behan, 2002) or deeply in one uterine horn, the so-called deep intrauterine artificial insemination (DIU-AI) (Martínez et al., 2001a). Either way, these doses could be less voluminous and contain fewer spermatozoa. Experiments done so far have shown pregnancies obtained with 20% of the usual sperm numbers (Roca et al., 2003; Bolarín et al., 2006). Spermatozoa can be frozen in small containers, such as plastic medium-straws (MS, 0.5 mL), but since sperm numbers packed per straw are customarily low, several straws must be pooled post-thaw to build a complete AI dose, even for DIU-AI (Roca et al., 2006). Moreover, the volumes inseminated are larger than the volumes of the straws, usually 7 mL (Roca et al., 2003; Bolarín et al., 2006), thus requiring a re-extension of the sperm suspension, something that would cause sperm damage (Maxwell & Johnson, 1999), due to, for instance, variations in osmolarity. The question is, therefore, whether boar spermatozoa could be frozen in concentrated form, perhaps in numbers closer to those in the cauda epididymides, packed in small containers, and even inseminated in small volumes, thus avoiding re-extension and eventual damage. The rationale for such testing would be to diminish sperm damage and to enable preparation of more doses per ejaculate, packed, frozen, and thawed in optimal containers (using the basic design of the single FlatPack[™]) for eventual intrauterine deposition (DIU-AI), ultimately avoiding reflux of the inseminated semen.

The current status of boar semen cryopreservation is still considered poorto-fair (Mazur *et al.*, 2008). Most problematic is that we still do not know, conclusively, the reasons for these sub-optimal results. As already mentioned, compared with freshly collected or extended counterpart spermatozoa, many, if not most, cells subjected to a cooling-freezingthawing process have a short lifespan. This is presumably due to damage in the plasma membrane, caused, in turn, by differences in water efflux during freezing (dehydration) and the reverse rehydrating process during thawing (Mazur, 1985; Steponkus & Lynch, 1989; Eriksson & Rodríguez-Martínez, 2000b). However, such studies were done in pre-freeze or post-thaw samples, thus losing a view of the spermatozoa in the frozen state. Use of Cryo-scanning electron microscopy (Cryo-SEM), has proven valuable to determine the status of dehydration of spermatozoa and of regional differences within different containers (Ekwall, 2008), with linkage to postthaw survival. Among those FT-spermatozoa that survive the process of cryopreservation, some show changes in the plasma membrane [mostly of destabilisation of the lipid bilayer (Buhr et al., 1994)] somewhat reminiscent of the process of sperm capacitation. Such findings have lead researchers to describe this phenomenon as "cryocapacitation" (Watson, 1995). The cryocapacitation concept argues that cooling and cryopreservation induce capacitation-like changes to spermatozoa from several mammalian species, including the pig (Maxwell & Johnson, 1997a), by altering the nature of the plasma membrane, thus leading to shorter lifespan and, consequently, to a reduced fertilising efficiency (Cormier et al., 1997; Bailey et al., 2000; Bailey et al., 2003). A dissonant hypothesis was reported, albeit not referring to boar spermatozoa, claiming that the process of "cryocapacitation" was not equivalent to the physiological mechanism of sperm capacitation, the prerequisite for fertilisation in mammals (Thomas et al., 2006), suggesting that the damage to the plasma membrane is basically caused by thawing. Since this is a very relevant question, boar spermatozoa should be monitored for changes of destabilisation of the plasma membrane, which might resemble capacitation or preclude membrane deterioration.

The boar ejaculate is a voluminous (200-300 mL) and particular mixture of aliquots of spermatozoa from the caudae epididymides [about 2-5% v/v, (White, 1958)] suspended in a fluid, the seminal plasma (SP, 95% v/v of the ejaculate) composed by epididymal cauda contents, and secretions of the accessory sexual glands. However, during the characteristic, relatively extense ejaculation process of the boar, this huge amount of fluid is not homogeneously released at once. Semen is expelled in jets in a fractionated way, usually with three distinct fractions, although some authors have reported the presence of four (Xu et al., 1996). The fractions, artificially divided by their appearance, are called (i) the pre-sperm (PSF, dominated by the secretions of the urethral and bulbourethral glands, as well as the prostate), (ii) the sperm-rich (SRF, containing the vast majority of spermatozoa, and where the epididymal fluid in which they originally bathe is, after reaching the urethra, step-wise diluted with fluids derived from the seminal vesicles and the prostate) and, (iii) the post-sperm-rich [PSRF, that contains fewer and fewer spermatozoa over time, and where the fluid is primarily derived from the increasing secretion of the seminal vesicles, the prostate and, by the end of the ejaculation, the bulbourethral glands (Einarsson, 1971; Mann & Lutwak-Mann, 1981)].

Most ejaculated spermatozoa (80-90%) are in the SRF, and thus this fraction is the one customarily collected for semen processing (either for extension or cryopreservation). The number of spermatozoa expelled in the SRF is uneven, with most spermatozoa ejaculated in the first 10-15 mL of the SRF, and sperm numbers decreasing thereafter (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005). Studies reported in this particular paper suggested those spermatozoa in the first portion (Portion 1, P1) of the SRF ought to be considered, among the ejaculated spermatozoa, as those primarily colonising the sperm reservoir in the oviduct of the sow and, therefore, considered as those mainly (and potentially) involved in fertilisation (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005). Moreover, several studies have suggested boar spermatozoa from this P1 are those that best survive manipulation (including cryopreservation) (Sellés et al., 2001; Peña et al., 2003a; Peña et al., 2004). Although reasons for such resilience were not fully provided, there is a suggestion that the SP of the particular portions have positive actions on the spermatozoa (Peña et al., 2003a). In any case, there is a need to discover whether differences can be determined between spermatozoa from this particular P1-portion of the SRF and those contained in the rest of the ejaculate (called Portion 2, P2). Studies should include all possible steps of extension, cooling, and freezing-thawing, attempting to identify where changes in sperm kinematics and plasma membrane integrity or stability (all essential attributes for fertilisation) might diverge.

Boar SP (as bulk, without differentiation by portions) modulates sperm motility (Rodríguez-Martínez, 1991), the resistance to cold-shock (Pursel et al., 1973), the stability of the plasma membrane (Maxwell & Johnson, 1999), and even the prevention of "cryo-induced" DNA damage (Fraser & Strzezek, 2007). Most of these studies and also those attempting to disclose effects of SP on sperm survival (Maxwell et al., 1998; Maxwell & Johnson, 1999; Vadnais et al., 2005; Maxwell et al., 2007; Vadnais & Roberts, 2007; Okazaki et al., 2008) have also used bulk SP as additive. However, there are differences in the amounts of total SP-protein content and of the different types of SP-proteins (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005; Hernández et al., 2007) between portions of the boar ejaculate. The P1 contains less and somewhat different SP-proteins than P2 (Calvete et al., 2005; Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005). Therefore, differences in SP-proteins could well be linked to the different abilities of the spermatozoa bathing in the portions. For instance, such exposure might explain why sperm kinematics differs among spermatozoa in an ejaculate (defining heterogeneity) (Abaigar et al., 1999; Abaigar et al., 2005).

It is, however, not easy to unravel possible roles of the SP on cryopreservation of boar spermatozoa, mainly because of its complex composition, and the possible different roles in vivo. The SP-protein profile has been the most studied (Caballero et al., 2004; Caballero et al., 2005; Caballero et al., 2006; García et al., 2006; Jonakova et al., 2007; Manaskova & Jonakova, 2008), despite the SP having other components (Mann & Lutwak-Mann, 1981). For instance, the SP contains ions of utmost importance for sperm function [(such as Ca⁺⁺ or bicarbonate (Einarsson, 1971; Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 1990; Rodríguez-Martínez, 1991)]. Whether these ions are differentially represented in the various portions of the ejaculate and whether, ultimately, they affect cryopreservation, is unresolved. Attempts should be made to determine whether the SP of the various portions/fractions could influence variables indicating sperm resilience to cryopreservation, such as sperm kinematics, plasma membrane activity, and chromatin integrity; the first-named essential for fertilisation and the last, for early embryo development. Moreover, it would be important to determine which component of the SP might be involved.

The current protocol to cryopreserve boar semen has — as already mentioned — not been substantially modified for the past 33 years, although some progress in sperm survival has been made, mostly by changes that have not simplified the process, rather, the opposite. Even with these better survival rates, the major drawback of freezing boar semen, for example, the need to employ at least 8 h to process an ejaculate makes the process unattractive for routine use. Therefore, attempts should be made to shorten the procedure, making it more simple and less depending on heavy equipment, such as refrigerated centrifuges, while guaranteeing acceptable cryosurvival.

Aims of the study

The overall aim of the present thesis was to improve available methods of cryopreserving ejaculated boar spermatozoa, to the extent that the method could be commercially applied.

The study specifically aimed to test whether:

- boar spermatozoa could be frozen, concentrated (2 × 10⁹/mL), in a novel flat container, the MiniFlatPack[™] (MFP, 0.5–0.7 mL), potentially usable for deep intrauterine AI,
- frozen-thawed boar spermatozoa highly packed in MFP or MS could be inseminated in low volumes via deep intrauterine AI and lead to pregnancies,
- cooling would affect plasma membrane architecture or sperm motility of ejaculated boar spermatozoa temporally present in two different sub-sets of seminal plasma (SP),
- the SP content in different portions of the boar ejaculate would affect sperm attributes (kinematics, membranes, and chromatin) during cryopreservation, and whether
- the methodology for cryopreserving boar spermatozoa could be simplified, using experimental findings and methodological changes.

Material and methods

Animals

Ejaculated spermatozoa were collected from 20 sexually mature boars (aged 1.5 to 5 years) of three breeds (Swedish Yorkshire, Swedish Landrace, and Norwegian Landrace) that were solely selected by clinical normality, acceptable semen quality, and proven fertility after AI of their liquid-preserved semen. No boar was pre-selected for semen freezability. All boars were kept on straw beds in individual pens, with sows in the vicinity. Multi-parous crossbred sows (Swedish Landrace × Swedish Yorkshire, n= 42) with a lactation of 5 weeks and a mean parity of 3.5 farrowings (range: 2–5) were purchased from a commercial herd and brought directly after weaning to the Division of Reproduction, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala, Sweden. Boars and sows were fed according to Swedish standards (Simonsson, 1994) and were provided with water *ad libitum*. The experimental protocols had previously been reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee for Experimentation with Animals, Uppsala Sweden.

Collection of semen

Semen was collected with regular rest periods of 6–7 (**Papers I–III**) or 3–4 (**Papers IV** and **V**) days between collections. Each boar was allowed to mount a dummy and semen was manually collected with the gloved-hand technique. Different portions/fractions of the ejaculate were selectively collected, depending on the experiment in question, for example, as the sperm-rich fraction (SRF) (**Papers I–II** and **V**) and as Portions 1 and/or 2 (**Papers III–V**). The SRF and P2 were collected in a plastic bag inside an insulated thermos flask, and the P1 in a pre-warmed 12 mL-plastic tube.

Only ejaculates with at least 70% motile spermatozoa and 75% morphologically normal spermatozoa were used. Immediately post-

collection, the semen was held at room temperature (RT, +20 to +22°C) in its own SP (as portions or as SRF) for 60 min (**Papers I** and **II**) or 30 min in the dark (**Paper V**), before extension with Beltsville Thawing Solution (either BTS+[®], L'Aigle, France [(**Papers I** and **II**, **IV** and **V**, Exp III) or self-made extender (**Paper V**, Exp II)] or directly extended 1:3 (P1) or 1:1 (P2) with BTS+[®] (**Paper III**).

In **Paper IV**, P1 and P2 were split. One aliquot was kept as P1 or P2 for 60 min in the dark at RT. The other aliquot was centrifuged twice (800 × g for 10 min) to separate the SP (supernatant, SP-P1 or SP-P2, see above) from the spermatozoa (pellet). The sperm pellets from each portion were thereafter mixed 1:9 with thawed, pooled (mixed aliquots of SP from the same boars included in the study) SP from P2 (SP-P2), or alternatively, with thawed, pooled SP from P1 (SP-P1) from the same boars and kept in the dark for 60 min at RT, a treatment referred to as "P1CENSP2" or "P2CENSP1", respectively.

Seminal plasma separation

Seminal plasma (SP) from P1 and P2 was used as a replacement "additive" prior to freezing in **Paper IV**. Aliquots from P1 and P2 were centrifuged five times (3,000 g × 20 min each time), removing the supernatant SP to a clean tube before each consequent centrifugation. After the last centrifugation, the harvested SP was separately filtered through disposable filters of 0.2 μ m diameter (Filtropur S 0.2; Sarstedt AG & Co, Nümbrecht, Germany), passed to 10 mL tubes, and stored at -20°C, separately for each boar, ejaculate, and portion until use.

Determination of seminal pH and bicarbonate concentrations (Paper V, Exp I)

Semen, as portions P1 or P2, and also as SRF, was (in different opportunities) collected from five mature stud boars, either in plastic 12 mL tubes (P1) or into an insulated thermos flask (P2 and SRF). Determinations of seminal pH and its relative concentrations of bicarbonate were done immediately after collection using a hand-held blood analysis system with a cartridge CG8+ for acid-base analyses of pH and bicarbonate (i-STAT[®], Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, USA).

Sperm motility changes during liquid storage of semen in extenders with various concentrations of bicarbonate (**Paper V**, Exp II)

Immediately after collection of P1 and P2, each specific portion from each male was pooled, sperm concentration adjusted to 50×10^6 spermatozoa/mL, and extended in test extenders with a common base [glucose, 205.3 mM/L; sodium citrate dihydrate, 20.39 mM/L; potassium

chloride, 5.4 mM/L; ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid (EDTA), 3.35 mM/L; penicillin-G Na 0.6 g/L and dihydrostreptomicin 1.0 g/L]; where the concentration of sodium bicarbonate was adjusted to 0, 5, 10, or 15 mM/L (Bic-0 to 15). BTS+[®] (IMV, L'Aigle, France), containing 22.5 of bicarbonate mM/L, was used as control extender. The extended semen (as 100 mL) was kept at 16–17°C in the dark. The temperature of semen incubation was checked daily before motility assessments. Sperm motility was evaluated using a computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA) instrument, immediately after collection (at time 0), and every 24 hours (at time 0 and after 30 min of incubation, both at 38°C) until day 5 (120 h). Additionally, semen as P1 or P2 extended in Bic-0, were incubated until 144 h and one aliquot was re-exposed to control BTS+[®]. Sperm motility was then assessed at time 0 and after 30 min of incubation, both at 38°C.

Sperm cryopreservation

Semen was processed using basically the same protocol throughout Papers I-IV, with a simplification for Paper V. Particular modifications as reported in each paper will be referred to when pertinent. Generally (Papers I-IV), semen (as SRF or portions) was immediately (Paper III), or following an SP-holding time (see above), extended with BTS+® (1:1 for SRF and P2, or 1:3 for P1) and kept at +15°C for 3 h. After this period, the semen was centrifuged twice at $800 \times g$ for 10 min (**Papers I, II** and **IV**). After centrifugation, the supernatant was discarded and sperm concentration (Bürker haemocytometer) determined, before spermatozoa were resuspended in a lactose-egg yolk (LEY) extender [80 mL (80%, v/v, 310 mM) of β -lactose + 20 mL hen's egg yolk] to reach the following final sperm concentrations for the different containers used: SFP: 1 (Paper I); MS: 2 (Papers I and II); MFP: 2 (Papers I and II), or 1×10^9 spermatozoa/mL (Papers III-V). After thorough mixing, the semen was further cooled to +5°C for 2 h, after which the semen was slowly mixed with a LEYGO extender (89.5 mL LEY extender, 1.5 mL of Equex STM (Nova Chemicals Sales Inc., Scituate, MA, USA), which is equivalent to Orvus Es Paste (Graham et al., 1971) and glycerol to yield a final concentration of glycerol of 3%), and packed. In the simplified method (Paper V), the semen was — following the 30 min pre-freezing SPincubation at RT — mixed with LEY and cooled down to +5°C within 1.5 h, after which the semen was slowly mixed with LEYGO and packed.

Semen was packed at +5°C inside a cool cabinet (IMV, L'Aigle, France) in different packages; 0.5 mL volume plastic medium-straws (MS, Minitüb, Tiefenbach, Germany) (**Papers I and II**), 5 mL plastic single FlatPack[™] (SFP, **Paper I**) and/or MiniFlatPack[™] (MFP, i.e., four 0.7 mL (**Papers I** and **II**) or 0.5 mL (**Papers III-V**) volume segments of a SFP). The MS were sealed with PVC powder, while heat-sealing was used for the Packs (SFP: end-sealed; MFP: segment- and end-sealed) and placed in conventional (MS) or specially designed freezing racks (Eriksson & Rodríguez-Martínez, 2000b).

All racks were transferred to the chamber of a computer-controlled freezer (Mini Digitcool 1400, IMV, L'Aigle, France) initially set at +5°C. The cooling/freezing rate, equal for all packages, was as follows: 3°C/min from +5°C to -5°C, one min for crystallisation, and thereafter 50°C/min from - 5°C to -140°C (**Papers I–V**). The samples were then plunged into liquid N_2 (-196°C) for storage. The different packages were thawed in a water bath, with different temperature/time rates depending on the package: The MS were thawed at 35°C for 20 sec (**Paper I**) or 50°C for 12 sec (**Paper II**); SFP (**Paper I**) were thawed at 50°C for 13 sec and MFP at 35°C for 20 sec (**Papers I–V**).

Sperm evaluation

Assessment of sperm kinematics

In different stages during cryopreservation (S1= after collection, suspended in BTS+[®]; S2= at 15°C, suspended in LEY; S3= at 5°C, suspended in LEYGO; S4= post-thaw, in **Papers III** and **IV**) and after thawing (**Papers I**, **II** and **V**), the semen suspension was extended with $20-22^{\circ}$ C BTS+[®] + LEY extender (95 mL BTS+[®] and 5 mL LEY) at a 1:20 ratio, to give a sperm concentration of ~50 × 10⁶ spermatozoa/mL, which was considered optimal for the CASA equipment (SM-CMA; MTM Medical Technologies, Montreaux, Switzerland). The inclusion of the LEY extender prevented the spermatozoa from sticking to the chamber glass during motility evaluation.

The re-extended, thawed semen was placed into 38° C incubation for 30 min (**Papers I–V**) and/or up to 120 min (**Paper V**). Five microlitres of semen were placed in a pre-warmed 10 µm-deep Makler counting chamber (Sefi Medical Instruments, Haifa, Israel) and warmed to 38° C. Sperm motility was assessed in a microscope equipped with 38° C microscope stage and phase contrast optics (200×, Optiphot-2, Nikon, Japan), both subjectively (**Paper I**) and using the CASA instrument (**Papers I–V**) at 0 (**Papers I, IV** and **V**), 30 (**Papers I–V**), 60 (**Paper I**), and/or 120 min (**Paper V**).

For each sample, eight predetermined optical fields around the central reticulum of the chamber were used to count a minimum number of 200 spermatozoa per sample. Besides the percentage of total motile spermatozoa, the following motility patterns were recorded: linearly motile spermatozoa (%); non-linearly motile spermatozoa (%); circularly motile spermatozoa (%); locally motile spermatozoa (%); straight linear velocity (VSL, μ m/sec);

average path velocity (VAP, μ m/sec); curvilinear velocity (VCL, μ m/sec); lateral head displacement (LHD, μ m). The parameter settings for the SM-CMA software were: 32 frames with a spermatozoon present in at least 16 in order to be counted; time resolution 20 ms (50 Hz). An object with VAP <10 μ m/sec was considered immotile and objects with a velocity >25 μ m/sec were deemed as motile. Spermatozoa deviating <10% from a straight line were designated as linearly motile, and those spermatozoa with a radius <25 μ m were classified as circularly motile.

Assessment of sperm plasma membrane status

Sperm plasma membrane stability and integrity measurements (**Papers I** and **III–V**) were carried out with an LSR flow cytometer (FC, Becton Dickinson, San José, CA, USA) equipped with a HeCd ultraviolet (UV) laser (325 nm, 8 mW), an argon ion laser (488 nm, 20 mW) and a HeNe laser (633 nm, 17 mW) as excitation sources. The FC was used at low flow rate (6–24 μ L/min).

Plasma membrane integrity (PMI) was assessed (Papers I, IV and V) using the LIVE/DEAD® Sperm Viability Kit L-7011 (Molecular Probes Inc., Eugene, OR, USA) (Garner & Johnson, 1995) where aliquots (one mL) of the sperm suspension were loaded with SYBR-14 and propidium iodide (PI) fluorophores, incubated at 38°C for at least 10 min before either FC (Papers I and IV) or epifluorescent microscopy (Paper V) were used for evaluations. FC-data from at least 10,000 gated events per sample were collected in list mode, and spermatozoa classified as live (SYBR+/PI-), dving (SYBR+/PI+), or dead (SYBR-/PI+). In **Paper V** (Exp III), PMI was assessed using a Dialux 20 microscope (Leitz, Wetzlar, Germany) at 40× magnification. Two experienced operators counted 200 spermatozoa per sample each, accepting a maximum of 10% counting differences between operators. Spermatozoa were classified as live (SYBR+, green) or dead (SYBR-/PI+, red). Additionally, in Paper I, in vitro membrane functionality was evaluated using the rapid hypo-osmotic swelling test (sHOST) as previously described for boar spermatozoa (Perez-Llano et al., 2001), on the same semen doses as for FC-analysis. In brief, an aliquot (100 µL) of post-thaw semen was immediately added to BTS+®, adjusted with distilled water to obtain a hypo-osmotic test solution (75 mOsm) and incubated at 38°C for 5 min. Following incubation, 200-300 µL of the hypo-osmotic suspension was fixed in the same adjusted BTS-solution plus 5% formaldehyde. Two trained operators counted 100 spermatozoa each, using documented guidelines (Jeyendran et al., 1984) at 40× magnification in a microscope equipped with phase-contrast optics (Laborlux 12, Leitz, Jena, Germany). The outcome was accepted only if a <10% difference was encountered between operators and averaged.

Early sperm plasma membrane destabilisation was checked by exteriorisation of the phospholipid phosphatidylserine (PS) at different stages during cryopreservation (S1-S4, **Papers III** and **IV**). PS-exteriorization was detected by an Annexin-V-FITC apoptosis detection kit I and II (Pharmigen, San Diego, CA, USA), using previous protocols for boar semen (Peña *et al.*, 2003b) with slight modifications, mainly for better exclusion of no-sperm events using Hoechst 33342 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Staining and incubation procedures were conducted at RT. FC-acquisitions were stopped after recording 50,000 H33342-positive events. For the gated cells, the percentages of viable spermatozoa with a stable plasmalemma [Annexin-V (AN)-negative/PI-negative (PI–)], spermatozoa with an unstable yet intact plasma membrane (AN+/PI–), and membrane-damaged cells (AN–/PI+), as well as double positive (AN+/PI+) cells were evaluated based on quadrants determined from single-stained and unstained control samples.

Merocyanine-540 (M-540) was used to evaluate the appearance of early lipid scrambling in the sperm plasma membrane at different stages during cryopreservation (S1-S4, **Paper III**). The staining protocol used for M-540 was according to Januskauskas *et al.* (2005). FC-acquisitions were stopped after recording 10,000 H33342-positive events. Dot plots regions were set to differentiate three populations: viable with low M-540, viable with high M-540, and dead cells (Yo-Pro-1 stained).

Sperm chromatin structure assay (Paper IV)

Chromatin structure was assessed using the *in situ* denaturation procedure originally designed by Evenson et al. (1980) and described in detail by Januskauskas et al. (2001). Prepared samples were analysed using a FACStar^{PLUS} FC (Becton Dickinson Immunochemistry Systems, San José, CA, USA) equipped with standard optics and an argon-ion laser (Innova 90; Coherent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) tuned at 488 nm and running at 200 mW. At least 10,000 events were measured at a flow rate of ~200 cells/sec. Equivalent instrument settings were used for all samples. Data collection was carried out using CellQuest, version 3.3. Further calculations were performed using FCS Express version 2 (De Novo Software, Thornhill, Ontario, Canada). Sperm DNA fragmentation index (DFI) was established by calculating the amount of red fluorescence divided by the total (red plus green) fluorescence, indicating the amount of denatured sperm DNA over the total DNA present. For each sample analysed, the procedure generated a mean DFI (X-DFI), a standard distribution of DFI (SD-DFI) expressed in channel numbers 1-1,024, and a percentage of spermatozoa with detectable DFI (% DFI); all calculated from the DFI frequency histogram.

Assessment of acrosome integrity (Paper V)

Acrosome morphology was evaluated immediately after thawing, fixing spermatozoa from either freezing protocol with a solution of 2% buffered formalin (Hancock, 1957), and kept at RT in the dark until analysis. Two hundred spermatozoa were counted on wet smears with a light microscope equipped with contrast phase optics (Laborlux 12, Leitz, Jena, Germany) at $1000 \times$ magnification, per sample. A very experienced operator evaluated the samples, disclosing whether a spermatozoon had either normal or deviating acrosome morphology, including breakage, as described by Bane (1961).

Artificial Insemination (Paper II)

Detection of oestrus and ovulation

Oestrous detection started from day two after weaning. The sows were observed for signs of proestrus every 12 h, primarily by inspection of the vulva for reddening and swelling. When the sows revealed some signs of oestrus, the detection was performed every 4 h until the end of oestrus. Sows that revealed standing reflex to back pressure were considered to be in oestrus. The time of onset of oestrus was defined as the first time a sow revealed a back-pressure response, minus 2 h. The moment when oestrus ended was defined as the last time a sow revealed a standing response plus 2 h. The same procedures for oestrus detection were applied in the first and second oestrus post-weaning. Transrectal ultrasonography (TUS) of both ovaries was performed with an annular array sector scanner probe (5 MHz) (Scanner 250, Pie Medical b.v., Maastricht, The Netherlands) 18 h after the onset of the 1st and 2nd oestrus post-weaning, the ovaries scanned every 4 h until completion of ovulation. At each scanning, the estimates of follicle numbers and the average diameter of presumptive ovulatory follicles (i.e., >4 mm) were recorded. Ovulation time was defined as the first scanning when no presumptive ovulatory follicles were seen, minus 2 h. If the follicular count was not zero, but lower than previously, the ovulation was assumed to have just started, and called time 0 (Soede et al., 1992).

Deep intrauterine insemination technique

Deep intrauterine-artificial inseminations (DIU-AI) were performed in the 2^{nd} oestrus post-weaning, in relation to the expected spontaneous ovulation (Mburu *et al.*, 1995). Sows were randomly allotted for DIU-AI in one of three groups: (1) single DIU-AI, 8 h before expected ovulation, (2) single DIU-AI, 4 h before expected ovulation, and (3) double DIU-AI, 12 and 4 h before expected ovulation. Occurrence of ovulation was confirmed by TUS and recorded. The DIU-AIs were performed as described by Martínez *et al.* (2002) with a flexible intrauterine catheter (Firflex[®], University of Murcia, Spain). Sows were inseminated without sedation or immobilisation. FT-

semen from MFP or MS was then infused into the flexible catheter by use of a temperated syringe. Since the volume of the intrauterine AI-catheter inner lumen was previously measured to approximately 2 mL, the same volume of extender was used to flush the catheter clean of the previously infused semen. The degree of easiness of the DIU-AI was recorded for each sow. In those sows not returning to oestrus, TUS was performed at day 28 from onset of oestrus, to confirm pregnancy.

Statistical analyses

Data, as mean values [using angular (Bliss), logarithmic, or square root transformation, where necessary] or as least square means for post-thaw sperm parameters, number of foetuses, number of spermatozoa in the oviductal sperm reservoir, and of accessory spermatozoa per oocyte, membrane and chromatin measurements were examined by analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the Statistical Analysis Systems software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA, 1994) (Papers I-V), using the general linear model (GLM) or the PROC MIXED procedures. Flow cytometryderived data were first tested using a Kolgomorov-Smirnov test to determine the normality of data distribution. For non-normally distributed data (Papers III-V) the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test or nonparametric procedures (NPAR1WAY) were used. The statistical models used included the effects of boar, the packaging system, the interaction between boar and package (Paper I); the number of AIs and the interval AI-to-ovulation (Paper II). In Paper III, the statistical model included the fixed effects of stages and males; and the interaction between stages and males within each portion separately. In Paper IV, the statistical model included the fixed effects of male, stage, and treatment, and their interaction. In Paper V, the statistical models (Exps I-III) included the fixed effects of male, batch, time, treatment, and their interaction. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05 (**Papers I–V**) or P <0.1 (Exp II, **Paper V**).

Results

Spermatozoa used in the experiments included in this thesis were derived from a total of 160 ejaculates (as SRF or in portions) from 20 sires. Only two ejaculates (both from the same boar) were discarded, owing to an occasional low sperm concentration (**Paper I**).

Freezing of highly concentrated semen in MFP and MS (Paper I)

The statistical model showed no interaction between males and packaging system. Sperm motility post-thaw did not differ between the packages with higher sperm concentration (MS and MFP) and the control (SFP), either in terms of overall sperm motility or sperm velocity (VSL, VAP, or VCL). The percentage of motile spermatozoa which depicted a linear trajectory differed significantly, with the control group (SFP) having the highest proportion $(31.6\% \pm 3.9\%$, mean \pm SEM) of spermatozoa with linear motility and the MS the lowest (13.7% $\pm 1.5\%$ mean \pm SEM). While the sHOST did not shed significant differences in membrane functionality between either package or boar, the use of fluorophores showed that, compared to MS, spermatozoa frozen in SFP or MFP depicted the highest percentages of PMI. Consequently, more spermatozoa, in absolute numbers, maintained PMI post-thaw in the MFP (494.5 $\pm 13.5 \times 10^6$ /spermatozoa, mean \pm SEM) than in the MS (381.5 $\pm 22.1 \times 10^{\circ}$ /spermatozoa, mean \pm SEM). These results indicate that freezing semen in highly concentrated low-volume doses did not cause any extra damage to spermatozoa, compared to controls.

Fertility after DIU-AI of highly concentrated sperm doses (**Paper II**)

All 42 sows used in the fertility trial showed normal signs of oestrus, including occurrence of spontaneous ovulation. The rest of the reproductive parameters of the females, during the oestrous cycle, AI, and pregnancy were within the normal ranges for the species. The DIU-AI could be performed in all sows, but took longer (>5 min) in 11.9% (5/42) of the females, indicating some degree of difficulty. Four out of these 5 sows

returned to oestrus. The overall pregnancy rate averaged 35% and was clearly related to the interval between DIU-AI and ovulation, being highest (60%, 12/20) when spontaneous ovulation occurred between -8 and -4 hours before AI. Fertilisation rates were highest with MFP-packed semen. Thus, pregnancy could be obtained using highly concentrated low- volume sperm doses and DIU-AI, but the interval AI to ovulation appeared crucial for fertilisation rates.

Changes in sperm viability and membrane stability during various steps of cryopreservation: differences between ejaculate portions (Paper III)

Total proportions of motile spermatozoa were always significantly higher in P1 than in P2 (S1= P1: 86.2%, P2: 78.4%; S2= P1: 89.5%, P2: 85.3%; S3= P1: 91.6%, P2: 83.9%, and S4= P1: 66.3%, P2: 54.2%) for all stages of cryopreservation. Within portions of the ejaculate, total motility did not vary during cooling (P1: 86.2% to 91.6%; P2: 78.4% to 85.3%), but was clearly reduced post-thaw (P1: 66.3%; P2: 54.2%). The percentage of spermatozoa depicting linear motility was proportionally similar between ejaculate portions, remaining around 20–30% during cooling, to significantly increase post-thaw (checked after 30 min of incubation at 38°C) in both portions; to 45.4% and 44.3%, P1 and P2 respectively. Sperm velocities (μ m/sec) were, immediately post-collection, higher in P1 than in P2 (VCL: 103.2 vs 84.9; VSL: 65.3 vs 53.3 and VAP: 68.4 vs 55.6), a difference not maintained during the rest of the process.

When spermatozoa were incubated under non-capacitating conditions (low bicarbonate level, ungassed medium), >90% of live spermatozoa had a stable membrane (low M-540 fluorescence). This particular sperm population decreased significantly post-thaw, similarly for both ejaculate portions, without showing high M-540 fluorescence (which indicates instability of the plasma membrane), but merely increasing the proportions of dead spermatozoa (P1: from 8.5% to 40.8%; P2: from 12.5% to 43.9%). However, those M-540 low-fluorescent spermatozoa (i.e., with stable membrane) could react to conditions that are used to induce sperm in vitro capacitation (high bicarbonate level, gassed medium), this time by clearly increasing the proportions of high M-540 fluorescent spermatozoa, except post-thaw (S1= P1: from 1.5% to 64.3%, P2: from 1.4% to 42.9%; S2= P1: from 0.9% to 9.6%, P2: from 1.2% to 21.2%; S3= P1: from 0.45% to 3.0%, P2: from 0.6% to 4.3% and S4= P1: from 1.3% to 1.7%, P2: from 1.6% to 1.6%). Such response to bicarbonate challenge varied among stages of the cooling process and ejaculate portions (being highest in newly collected semen than in semen from the following stages of cooling and thawing), and being numerically higher in P1 (64.3 \pm 4.3%) than in P2 (42.9 \pm 6.3%) (mean \pm SEM). Monitoring of the plasma membrane PS-exteriorisation by the Annexin-V/PI assay showed similar trends as for M-540. During cooling and irrespective of ejaculate portion, most spermatozoa were live-AN- (S1: P1: 90.5%, P2: 92.3%; S2: P1: 89.8%, P2: 87.6% and S3: P1: 89.2%, P2: 85.4%), a proportion that dropped significantly post-thaw (P1: 58.3%, P2: 56.4%). Consequently, while very few live spermatozoa (<1%) had exteriorised their PS (AN+) during controlled cooling, they were dead post-thaw. When challenged with bicarbonate, the proportion of AN+ spermatozoa increased significantly in all stages and both portions, but remained below 4%. As before, bicarbonate challenge increased the proportions of dead spermatozoa in all stages and in both portions. Overall, the data suggest that plasma membrane stability, and barely motility, were not altered during controlled cooling and that the main damage inflicted by cryopreservation was recognised post-thaw as sperm death.

Effect of seminal plasma in cryopreservation (Paper IV)

The percentage of total motile spermatozoa post-thaw differed significantly among portions/treatments, with the highest values in P1- (65.8%) and in P2-spermatozoa re-exposed to pooled SP-P1 from several boars, (62.1%), while the lowest percentage was seen among P1-spermatozoa re-extended in pooled SP-P2 (49.8%). Such proportions were maintained during cooling but decreased significantly after thawing (S1= P1: 90.2%, P2: 79.6%, P1CENSP2: 76.1%, P2CENSP1: 88.7%; S2= P1: 90.7%, P2: 86.0%, P1CENSP2: 80.9%, P2CENSP1: 85.4%; S3= P1: 93.2%, P2: 84.1%, P1CENSP2: 81.3%, P2CENSP1: 83.4%, and S4= P1: 65.8%, P2: 56.2%, P1CENSP2: 49.8%, P2CENSP1: 62.1%). The highest percentages of spermatozoa showing linear motility were seen after the customary 30 min incubation post-thaw (38.0% to 44.5%). Linearity did not change between sperm source and treatment during any of the four stages of cryopreservation process (S1= 32.3% to 40.6%; S2= 32.3% to 35.3%; S3= 27.9% to 32.5%).

P1-derived spermatozoa had the highest percentage of PMI post-thaw (63.3%, P < 0.05). Re-exposure of either P1 or P2 to the opposite SP was able to modify PMI status assessed by SYBR-14/PI. On the other hand, neither Annexin-V/PI nor sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) were able to depict significant differences between ejaculate portions or treatments. For the latter, the values of post-thaw DFI were very low in spermatozoa from both P1 and P2 (<1.3%), and cleansing and re-exposure to the opposite pooled SP gave no substantial beneficial effect. A slight negative effect was seen when P1-spermatozoa were exposed to pooled SP from P2, as seen for DFI (1.2% to 2.5%), SD-DFI (22.1% to 28.4%) or X-DFI (216.0% to 225.1%). In sum, the SP from different ejaculate portions seems to modulate post-thaw sperm survival (as motility).

Bicarbonate concentrations and pH in different portions/fractions of the boar ejaculate (**Paper V**, Exp I)

Bicarbonate concentration in P1 was significantly lower (13.7 mM/L) than that of SRF, P2, or the whole ejaculate, whose relative concentrations were similar (19 to 23 mM/L). In comparison with P2, the pH of P1 was lowest (7.07 \pm 0.03), but there were no significant differences with either SRF or the whole ejaculate. The values of either parameter were statistically similar between males.

Sperm motility during storage in different bicarbonate concentrations (**Paper V**, Exp II)

From being equal at time 0, sperm motility changed when P1- and P2spermatozoa were stored in varying concentrations of exogenous bicarbonate for up to 120 h at 16-17°C. Over time, and in relation to control, P1-spermatozoa sustained motility better than P2-spermatozoa (at 120 h, P1: 66.5-71.2%, control: 81.7%; P2: 33.6-58.3%, control: 61.5%). P1-spermatozoa stored in extender with 5, 10, or 15 mM/L of bicarbonate or in control BTS (22.5 mM/L of bicarbonate) maintained motility ~70% during 120 h, while P2-spermatozoa could not sustain those levels (33.6% to 61.5%). The relative absence of bicarbonate (semen extended with Bic-0 mM/L) clearly depressed sperm motility of either P1- or P2-spermatozoa to levels <30%. This low motility was clearly maintained during the storage period in P1-spermatozoa (48 h: 21.5%, 72 h: 27.6%, and 120 h: 30.2%, means), while P2-spermatozoa showed more erratic, albeit similarly low, values. When stored in presence of exogenous bicarbonate (5-15 mM/L), linearity increased within 24 h of storage, from levels below 10% (P1) or 10-20% (P2) to values between 30-50% (P1) or 25-45% (P2), being kept up to 120 h, steadily in P1-spermatozoa but more erratically in P2spermatozoa (ns). Challenging P1- or P2-spermatozoa stored for up to 144 h in the relative absence of bicarbonate (Bic-0 extender), with a further reincubation in the control (BTS+®) extender for 30 min, markedly increased both the percentages of total motile (P1: 3.6% to 44.3%, P2: 43.5% to 70.6%) and linear motile spermatozoa (P1: 0% to 47.3%; P2: 1% to 10.6%). Bicarbonate appears to modulate sperm motility, with an apparent threshold. Since P1-SP usually contains lower innate bicarbonate amounts than P2, the absence of extra bicarbonate in the extender (Bic-0) was clearly more detrimental for motility for P1- than for P2-spermatozoa.

Simplification of the freezing of boar semen (Paper V, Exp III)

Use of a simplified, shorter protocol (SF) seemed to yield similar post-thaw survival (as proportions of motile spermatozoa recorded by CASA 30 min of 38°C-incubation post-thaw, from either P1 or SRF) as the conventional control (CF) method (P1-SF: 68.9% $\pm 2.4\%$, P1-CF: 65.2% $\pm 5.4\%$, SRF-

SF: 55.8% ±3.1%, and SRF-CF: 64.4% ±2.7%, means ±SEM). Within those motile spermatozoa, the proportion depicting linear trajectories increased in all treatments from <10% at time 0 post-thaw to 34–51% (for P1-SF and SRF-CF, respectively) when incubated at 38°C for 30 min, and to a maximum by 120 min of incubation (46% to 66%, for P1-SF and SRF-SF, respectively). Consequently, the proportions of spermatozoa showing a non-linear motility pattern showed a "mirror" display. None of these patterns differed between freezing treatments. The VCL or LDH of postthawed spermatozoa decreased during time of incubation, showing the same pattern for all freezing treatments assayed. The pattern was different for VAP and VSL. There was a significant increase after 30 min of incubation for the SF-treatments, while the CF-treatments had a slight but no significant increase. There were not significant differences in the two velocities after incubation at 120 min, except in treatment SR-SF, where VAP and VSL decreased. Few variables showed variation between males (VCL, including all treatments, and total motile spermatozoa; linear and non-linear motile spermatozoa for SRF-CF and -SF). There were no differences between ejaculates within male, for any variable.

The percentage of PMI-spermatozoa was lowest for the SRF-SF protocol ($52.5\% \pm 11.8\%$, mean \pm SEM) and highest for the SRF-CF protocol ($60.8\% \pm 9.1\%$, mean \pm SEM). Interestingly, these values did not differ significantly from those using P1-spermatozoa, either when using the simplified protocol P1-SF or the conventional one (P1-CF). For PMI, there was no variation either between males or between ejaculates within male. Most (60-70%) post-thawed spermatozoa maintained acrosomal morphology (and integrity) within normal limits. This variable did not show statistical differences either between freezing treatments or among/within sires. Freezing P1-spermatozoa with the simplified process (SF) yielded similar cryosurvival as the current protocol, but within a dramatically shorter processing time.

Discussion

One of the main drawbacks conspiring against a more extensive use of FTboar semen is the inherent low freezability that spermatozoa from many boars show. Several factors may contribute to this problem. One of them is genetic (Thurston et al., 2002); some boars produce spermatozoa with attributes (plasma membrane composition, metabolic capacity, etc.) that are insufficiently developed or have characteristics that make spermatozoa incapable of sustaining cryopreservation. Differences in freezability thus constitute a phenomenon that is most likely universal, as males from other species than the porcine also show such variation, often in relation to the relative phospholipid composition of the plasma membrane of their spermatozoa (Buhr et al., 1994). Species such as avian (particularly chicken, Blesbois, 2007), human (Centola et al., 1992), or bovine (Bailey & Buhr, 1994; Mathevon et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 2001) provide semen that freezes "easily", that is, has a steady, acceptable cryosurvival. In the case of the bull, one should, however, remember that the selection of sires has, over the past decades, included the use of a single, rather standardised freezing method. Bulls whose semen freezes well stay; the others... go. Boars also are often pre-selected for "freezability". They are pre-tested by freezing their semen, noting the outcome of alive (motile) spermatozoa, and determining which boars are "most suited" for freezing (Gil et al., 2005). Such process is timeconsuming. Furthermore, it hampers the use of boars with interesting genotypes, simply because the method used as tester for "freezability" is suboptimal (Westendorf et al., 1975; Bwanga, 1991; Johnson et al., 2000; Roca et al., 2006; Großfeld et al., 2008).

Another factor is the classical view that sows, owing to the anatomical characteristics of their genitals, in particular their large uterus, require a certain volume [often not less than 80 mL (Baker *et al.*, 1968)] in order to warrant an effective sperm transport from the site of semen deposition (cervix) towards the oviduct (Viring & Einarsson, 1981). Such volumes for an AI dose were considered prerequisite to harbour a certain number of suspended spermatozoa, in order to achieve an acceptable replenishment of the sperm reservoirs in the oviducts. In this manner, fertilisation of the newly ovulated oocytes could be assured by having enough sperm numbers

at the site of fertilisation (Hunter, 1981; Hunter, 1984). This is basically the rationale behind the use of liquid, extended semen for conventional AI, which holds $2.3-2.5 \times 10^{\circ}$ spermatozoa in an 80 mL dose. With regard to frozen material, unfortunately, since cryopreservation of boar semen usually kills a large proportion of the processed spermatozoa, their total number in an AI dose is usually double the figure used for liquid semen, for example, 5 \times 10⁹ spermatozoa in an 80 mL dose (Johnson, 1985; Johnson *et al.*, 2000). Several consequences arise from these large doses (in volume and sperm numbers). First, the huge sperm number per dose means that few, often not more than 10 doses can be prepared from a mean ejaculate. Second, the thawed semen usually contained in straws (either maxi-straws of 5 mL, or a series of 0.5mL MS) (Johnson et al., 2000) is re-suspended in a large volume (80 mL) of extender. Such procedure has been considered to cause deleterious effects, often related to osmolarity changes, in the surviving sperm population (Larsson & Einarsson, 1976), and it probably contributes to the lower fertility of the FT-semen. Another contributing factor is the occurrence of reflux of the inseminated volume. Such reflux [that can account for ~35% of the total volume (Viring & Einarsson, 1981)] occurs shortly after cervical AI as a consequence of the myometrial activity that relates to the manual infusion of the inseminate, and that can, very well, impair fertility (Steverink et al., 1998). Attempts have been made to diminish the sperm losses that such reflux causes, including AI with novel catheter designs (Gedis[®], Michalak, 2005) or the use of GoldenBags™ (www.imv-technologies.com) hung from a stimulating saddle hooked on the back of the sow (for instance the EZ MATE, Hampshire, IL, USA), which allows the sow's own pelvic and uterine contractions to do the emptying of the AI volume, slowly infusing the contents of the AI dose without manual pressing, as it is customarily done using other containers (Belstra et al., 2004).

Alternatives for the best use of FT-semen can also be listed. Cryobiologically best-suited containers for a 5mL dose (containing a total of 5×10^9 spermatozoa), such as the FlatPackTM, have proven successful in terms of in vitro sperm survival and of acceptable fertility following two cervical AIs per oestrus (Eriksson & Rodríguez-Martínez, 2000b; Eriksson et al., 2001; Eriksson et al., 2002). However, the issues of the large AI volume and the large sperm number are still present. Alternative AI routes have been designed, such as the post-cervical AI, with the intention of lowering the dose in terms of volume and sperm numbers. Two types of uterine AI procedures have been developed, namely the post-cervical, with deposition in the uterine body (Watson & Behan, 2002) and the deep-intrauterine AI (DIU-AI) which deposits the inseminate far into one uterine horn (Martínez et al., 2001a). Using either method, the volume and the sperm number per dose have been dramatically lowered and reflux minimised, leading to fertility using not only fresh semen (Martínez et al., 2002; Watson & Behan, 2002), but also FT-semen (Roca et al., 2003; Bolarín et al., 2006; Bathgate et al., 2008). In the present thesis, the results reported in Paper I revealed

that it was possible to successfully freeze boar spermatozoa, highly concentrated, in small volumes (0.5-0.7 mL). The rationale behind this study was to attempt the processing of highly-packed spermatozoa to numbers closer to those 3×10^{9} /mL found in the cauda epididymides (Einarsson, 1971), so that the viscosity of the sample would have also been increased, with consequences for freezing and also for counteracting reflux after AI. Moreover, those concentrated samples could be packed into a cryogenically proven container, with the same design as the FlatPack[™], by portioning such a container into the now denominated MiniFlatPack™ (MFP, **Paper I**). After thawing, these spermatozoa presented survival/viability with respect to motility, PMI, and functionality comparable to that of semen frozen at lower concentrations and in a higher volume using FlatPackTM, thus confirming the hypothesis tested; boar semen could be frozen in small containers, highly packed. Furthermore, compared to MS (of a similar volume and sperm concentration), the MFP yielded the highest number of post-thaw viable spermatozoa per dose.

Why such differences between maxi-straws, MS, and MFP? The packages differ mainly in shape: plastic maxi-straws and MS are cylinders, while the SFP and the MFP are flattened hexahedrons. They differ in thickness and, consequently, the ratio of surface-to-volume they express. Theoretically, depending on the thickness and the ability of the container to dissipate heat during cooling and thawing, cells would dehydrate mostly at the periphery, while ice damage would occur mostly in the centre of the sample (Courtens & Rety, 2001). Such results were reported in a study by Ekwall et al. (2007), attempting identification in the frozen state, i.e., in situ, of how much free water (extracellular "lakes") in extended boar semen could be frozen at different locations of MS and MFP packages against the size of the "dehydrated" areas (e.g., the frozen extender containing the spermatozoa, the so-called "veins"), by use of Cryo-scanning electron microscopy (Cryo-SEM). The Cryo-SEM methodology has proven most useful for disclosing such aspects in the assessment of boar spermatozoa (Rodríguez-Martínez & Ekwall, 1998; Ekwall, 2008). Interestingly, freezing of boar semen at high concentrations/volume in these two packages (MS and MFP), as done in Paper I, lead to differences in the structure of the frozen material (Ekwall et al., 2007). The pattern of "lakes" and "veins" in the MFP was clearly homogeneous throughout a cross section of the container, while the MS had smaller "lakes" in the periphery of the straw than in the centre of the cross section, indicating that the degree of dehydration was different, higher in the centre and lower in the periphery. Most likely, the spermatozoa in the outer area would contain intracellular ice, owing to a hampered dehydration (Bwanga et al., 1991). In contrast, the MFP showed larger "lakes" and thinner "veins" than the MS throughout, indicating the degree of dehydration was higher and more homogeneous (Ekwall et al., 2007). In consequence, the number of spermatozoa surviving the process was higher in the MFP, which concurs with the findings of Paper I.

The reasons for the poor-to-fair success achieved until now when cryopreserving boar semen (Mazur et al., 2008) are still not completely known. The relatively low success rate could be partly due to boar spermatozoa being very demanding cells to freeze, mostly owing to their reduced ability to sustain osmotic changes, during either freezing and/or thawing. Several factors, including the rate of freezing, cause osmotic changes in boar spermatozoa. Spermatozoa theoretically survive cryopreservation if a critical cooling rate for maximum survival is used, but such rate is yet to be found for the porcine species (Watson, 1979). Most often, we are far from these apparently optimal rates, and since use of a tooquick freezing (supra-optimal rates) leads to a drop in survival resulting from damaging intracellular ice formation (Bwanga et al., 1991), high survival typically demands that the cooling rate is sufficiently low to avoid such internal freezing (Leibo et al., 1978). Although rates low enough to prevent internal freezing injury are necessary for high survival, freezing at slow rates over a long time can cause "solution effects" injury resulting from the extreme concentration of extracellular solutes that may decrease survival as well (Critser et al., 2002). Therefore, an optimal cooling rate must be slow enough to prevent intracellular ice formation, but sufficiently fast to avoid cryo-injury due to solution effects (Mazur et al., 1972). The freezing rates used in this thesis were basically the same throughout, so that the structure differences in the frozen material reported by Ekwall et al. (2007), prepared using the protocol devised in **Paper I**, must -therefore- be a consequence of the packaging device used. On the other hand, a cell that has survived cooling to low subzero temperatures will ultimately not survive, if it is not thawed correctly. Thawing is also very traumatic to the sperm plasma membrane because of the highly destructive osmotic swelling that affects the spermatozoa during this process, where the range of osmolarity changes is often limited to 180-300 mOsm in the presence of extender (Gilmore et al., 1998). Throughout the thesis, thawing rates were adapted to the various containers, volumes, and sperm concentrations, being ~900°C/min in SFP (Paper I) and ~700°C/min for MS and MFP (Papers I-V), in order to minimise membrane swelling (Fiser et al., 1993).

In sum, the results of **Paper I** clearly showed that if the complete SRF were frozen in MFP, it could lead to the production of an average of 50–60 doses by ejaculate, with acceptable survival (~40%). But, are these spermatozoa fertile? **Paper II** intended to test the fertility, using DIU-AI of an AI dose containing highly concentrated spermatozoa frozen in a low volume. The obvious advantages seen for this treatment were the ability to easily store semen and to facilitate its handling post-thawing, without needing to reextend the dose. However, could such small volume (0.5–0.7 mL) of spermatozoa be capable being efficiently transported, especially considering the DIU-AI is deeply done in one of the horns? Would spermatozoa fertilise oocytes ovulated from either ovary? Would fertility vary if one or two AIs were done per oestrus? Would fertility be related to the interval between AI and ovulation? Several of these variables have been explored for FT-boar semen (Waberski et al., 1994; Roca et al., 2003; Bolarín et al., 2006; Bathgate et al., 2008) using cervical- or DIU-AI, but not using such sperm concentrations and such a low volume as the ones tested in **Paper II**. In any case, it was evident from the study reported by Martínez et al. (2006) that both uni- and bilateral fertilisations occur after DIU-AI, marking that sperm transport is effective enough to allow for bilateral fertilisations, even when their numbers were lower than those occurring unilaterally. Whether sperm transport was transperitoneal or transuterine, or both, is yet disputed (Martínez et al., 2001b; Roca et al., 2003; Martínez et al., 2006). In Paper II, fertility was achieved (overall being 35%) after DIU-AI with concentrated low-volume FT-boar semen (0.5-0.7 mL) in spontaneously ovulated sows, without significant differences registered in pregnancy rates between the three AI schemes used (single DIU-AI at 4 or 8 h or double DIU-AI 12 and 4 h before expected ovulation). The DIU-AI could be performed in all sows, but insertion was difficult in about 10% of the animals, taking longer time than expected. The fact that 4 out of 5 of these sows returned to oestrus suggests that the ease of passing the catheter along the uterine cavity is of utmost importance. Excessive manipulation may be counterproductive by disrupting normal sperm transport. Post-thaw sperm motility averaged 40% [10 points over our threshold for FT-semen (Eriksson et al., 2002)] for either packaging system and did not significantly change from thawing-to-AI. Such sperm viability suggests an average number of 400×10^6 live spermatozoa were deposited once or twice. Which dose is optimal for FT-boar semen has not yet been determined for DIU-AI. Using a dose as low as 250×10^6 spermatozoa led to acceptable fertility (50% pregnancy rate), in terms of farrowing rate (43%) and litter size (7.2) (Bathgate *et al.*, 2005). Use of 1×10^9 live spermatozoa yielded better results [70% farrowing rate and 9.25 ± 0.23 piglets born (Roca et al., 2003)]. In Paper II, there were not significant differences in pregnancy rates between the three AI schemes used. However, when examined for the distribution of pregnancy and non-pregnancy through the different periods, it was evident that pregnancy rates clearly related to the interval between DIU-AI and ovulation, being highest (60%, 12/20) when spontaneous ovulation occurred between 8 and 4 h after AI, confirming that a minimal interval between AI and ovulation has to be respected, so that maximal fertilisation rate (Soede et al., 1995a; Soede et al., 1995b), farrowing rate, and litter size (Terqui et al., 2000) can be obtained. Another finding was that there is no absolute need for a larger volume to be inseminated during DIU-AI; 0.5 mL seems to suffice for fertilisation to occur, as suggested by the number (as a range) of implantation sites obtained (Paper II). This indicates that sperm transport was effective enough, albeit not optimal, even when only such small volume was deposited in the tip of one horn. The spermatozoa are most likely being transported, by uterine contractions mechanically induced by the insertion and presence of the catheter, to the contra-lateral uterine tip to fertilise oocytes present at that side. Such findings have been reported earlier (Martínez et al., 2002), but by using larger volumes and sperm concentrations than the ones used here. In conclusion, those low sperm

numbers in a very small volume, deposited deeply into one uterine horn, were able to fertilise oocytes resulting from spontaneous ovulations, even when numbers were variable and did not reach 100%. Moreover, fertilisations and the consequent pregnancy rates were clearly dependent upon the optimality of the interval between last AI and ovulation.

In any case, this methodology could be considered far from ideal. It follows a complicated protocol of freezing, where the step of concentrating the spermatozoa to 2×10^9 /mL is an extra step in the cumbersome process of freezing the SRF. Surely, many more doses could be prepared per ejaculate, but would it not be possible to obtain more concentrated spermatozoa within the ejaculate, and thus simplify the procedure?

In this laboratory, already by 2000 (Sellés et al., 2001) trials had been performed in order to determine the presence of different subpopulations in the boar ejaculate, a matter that has absorbed many researchers worldwide (Holt et al., 1996; Abaigar et al., 1999; Quintero-Moreno et al., 2004; Abaigar et al., 2005). Their work has confirmed that the ejaculate, in its heterogeneity, has spermatozoa with various degrees of motility, both before and, particularly, after freezing and thawing (Thurston et al., 2003; Cremades et al., 2005; Gil et al., 2005). The boar ejaculate is voluminous, and produced in vivo in fractions, depending on the emission of secretory products from the accessory sexual glands to the urethra and the ejaculation of aliquots of spermatozoa from the cauda epididymides (Mann & Lutwak-Mann, 1981). Such fractions can be manually collected from a boar, and at least three are distinctly identified, namely the pre-sperm-rich fraction with a marginal number of spermatozoa and rich in electrolytes (Einarsson, 1971); the sperm-rich fraction (SRF), where most spermatozoa are located; and the post-sperm-rich fraction (PSRF), in which sperm numbers are minimal and which is mainly composed of protein secretions from the seminal vesicles, is rich in important ions (Na⁺, Cl⁻, Ca⁺⁺, Zn⁺, bicarbonate) and sialic acid (Hartree, 1962; Einarsson, 1971). Sperm numbers are not evenly distributed in the SRF, since the greatest number of spermatozoa (about 25%, Paper V) is present within the first 10 mL, with sperm numbers slowly decreasing towards the end of the ejaculate. Since these first 10 mL can be retrieved while collection of the ejaculate is performed as praxis, studies were done on the spermatozoa contained in this first portion (P1, Papers III-V) with those present in the rest of the collected ejaculate (i.e., the rest of the SRF and the PSRF, the hereby named P2). Those studies revealed, using pooled ejaculates, that the spermatozoa present in P1 (earlier also named PI, Peña et al., 2006) better sustained cooling and freezing-thawing compared to those fortuitously present in the bulk ejaculate (Sellés et al., 2001).

The ejaculate portion was proven to have a significant effect on sperm membrane integrity, motility patterns, and capacitation-like changes (Peña *et al.*, 2003a; Peña *et al.*, 2003b; Peña *et al.*, 2004), changes that defined significant differences between fractions of the ejaculate in both fresh and frozen samples. Before freezing, more live cells were present in P1. The

freezing-thawing procedure impaired motility and sperm membranes in a different manner in each portion of the ejaculate, suggesting that spermatozoa present in P1 were less sensitive to the stress induced by the cryopreservation procedure. Although clear-cut results were seen, the above-listed experiments were performed using pooled semen samples. When individual males were compared, variation in the performance of spermatozoa derived from one of these two portions of the ejaculate was present among sires (Peña et al., 2006). The reasons for the different results (Sellés et al., 2001; Peña et al., 2003a; Peña et al., 2004) regarding variability among boars are still obscure, but differences in SP composition between males and ejaculate portions may be part of the explanation. Different morphological subpopulations have been described, also, as part of the explanation for the distinct boars' general inability to sustain cryopreservation (Thurston et al., 2001). In relation to this, the morphometric study performed by Peña et al. (2006), using automated sperm morphology analysis (ASMA) software, revealed that spermatozoa present in P1 had significantly shorter and wider heads than those present in P2, for four of five boars studied. It is noteworthy, albeit solely anecdotal, that in this particular male, the cryopreservation of P2 was significantly better compared to P1. These studies suggest a possible male-effect should be considered in future studies, especially considering that inter-sire variation in semen freezability is of major concern (Thurston et al., 2002). Disclosing which sires could have a higher resilience to freezing among the bulk of spermatozoa is, obviously, of practical interest. In particular, it would be interesting to determine whether a beneficial effect of a certain portion of the seminal plasma (SP) on sperm viability is present in each boar, or whether this effect also varies among sires.

Obviously, it is very difficult to believe that P1 or P2 spermatozoa are "chosen" from a population of $\sim 60-80 \times 10^9$ spermatozoa in the ejaculate. A certain proportion of spermatozoa are just fortuitously present in P1, and largely and in a lapse of minutes from being ejaculated during natural mating, they reach the uterotubal junction (UTJ) and contribute to effectively building the sperm reservoir (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005). Those spermatozoa that had reached the sperm reservoir would, provided they progress from there in the "correct time" (i.e., in relation to ovulation) towards the ad-ovarian segment of the oviduct, be in physical and physiological conditions to interact with the oocytes and participate in the fertilisation process (Hunter & Rodriguez-Martinez, 2004). This is a purely mechanistic explanation for the "supremacy" of the spermatozoa contained in P1. But... could these spermatozoa be used to improve our management of the material to be frozen for AI? Concentration is obviously an advantage, since they are very concentrated already in the portion in which they are verted, but why do they sustain, at least in many boars, better freezing and thawing? Is there any relation to the surrounding SP?

The SP of the pig is formed by several components, the epididymal plasma with their particular proteins [often small proteins such as the inhibitor of

the acrosine (Dacheux et al., 2003)], but also the concerted, albeit fractionated secretion of the accessory sexual glands with their varying contents (ions, sugars, proteins, etc.) (Mann & Lutwak-Mann, 1981). The SP is, therefore, a tremendously heterogenous mixture, and its composition strongly depends on which fraction of boar ejaculate we discuss. There are differences in the amounts and types of SP-proteins (Calvete et al., 2005; Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2005). The portions P1 and P2 differ significantly in their relative contents of total protein being lower in P1 than in P2 (7.0 ±1.3 and 32.4 ±12.7 g/L, respectively), with clear differences in their distribution following electrophoresis on agarose gels (Wallgren et al., unpublished results). Although most proteins in P1 and P2 are the same spermadhesins [particularly the porcine seminal plasma proteins I and II (PSP-I and PSP-II) but also the Alanine-Tryptophan-Asparagine proteins (AWNs) and Alanine-Glutamine-Asparagine protein 1 and 3 (AQN-1 and AQN-3) (Töpfer-Petersen et al., 1998), which together represent over 90% of the total boar SP proteins (Dostalova et al., 1994)], the P1 also contains some smaller proteins (less than 5.6 kDa) that most likely correspond, among others, to the inhibitor of acrosin (Calvete et al. unpublished). In sum, the P2 had almost exclusively spermadhesins, in particular PSP-I and PSP-II glycoforms (Nimtz et al., 1999), while the P1 also contained these spermadhesins, but at lower concentrations and molecular weight. The PSPs have proven beneficial for sperm survival when boar spermatozoa have been highly extended, for reasons not yet clarified, but linked to a preservation of the sperm membrane stability (Caballero et al., 2006; García et al., 2006). The relevance of the other spermadhesins (AQNs and AWNs) for sperm function in the pig is less clear (Calvete et al., 2005).

Another striking difference between the cauda epididymides spermatozoa and those in the ejaculate is the dramatic change in the amount of bicarbonate present in the surrounding fluid, which is basically 3 mM/L in the epididymides and >30 mM/L in the whole ejaculate (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 1990). Looking at the different fractions of the ejaculate, earlier reports have shown an increase towards the end of the ejaculate, starting with ~14 mM/L in the pre-sperm fraction, to ~17 mM/L in the SRF and increasing to >33 mM/L in the PSRF (Rodríguez-Martínez, 1991). The ion bicarbonate plays important roles in sperm physiology, both by maintaining intracellular pH (and the homeostasis of the cell), and by modulating sperm motility and membrane stability through its effects on the sperm adenylyl cyclase (Harrison et al., 1996; Holt & Harrison, 2002; Litvin et al., 2003). For instance, bicarbonate is responsible for the initiation of motility at ejaculation (Okamura et al., 1985; Rodríguez-Martínez, 1991), and it is also considered the main effector of changes within the lipid bilayer of the sperm plasma membrane that are associated with sperm capacitation both in vivo (Tienthai et al., 2004), as in vitro (Harrison et al., 1996; Gadella & Harrison, 2000; Harrison & Gadella, 2005), in the pig.

Interestingly, the process of capacitation has been linked to the procedures of cooling and freezing. The number of spermatozoa that survives cryopreservation is enormously reduced (~40-50% survivability). This surviving subpopulation has, moreover, a reduced in vivo lifespan, compared with the pre-freeze spermatozoa, showing a rather susceptible plasma membrane which, being markedly prompt to deterioration, leads to a loss of the fertilising capacity of the spermatozoon, if the encounter with the oocyte is delayed (for instance when spermatozoa are inseminated far from ovulation). These changes at the plasma membrane of cryopreserved spermatozoa (often seen during cooling) have been monitored by use of the antibiotic chlortetracycline (the so-called CTC-assay), where this fluorescent antibiotic yields different fluorescent patterns in the sperm head depending on the presence and location of Ca⁺⁺/Mg⁺⁺ ions bound to the plasma membrane, and that could be linked to stable membranes, capacitated (unstable) membranes or even lost membranes (acrosome-reacted) (Tsien, 1989; Fraser et al., 1995; Rathi et al., 2001). That progression finally led to the concept of "cryocapacitation", since many of the surviving spermatozoa had the characteristics of unstable plasma membranes and likewise CTCpatterns of "capacitation" (Watson, 1995). However, the screening of these patterns was microscopically made, and it is therefore to be considered subjective. Moreover, because of its Ca⁺⁺ dependency (Tsien, 1989; Rathi et al., 2001), the assay supersedes other, often earlier steps of sperm capacitation, such as the lipid scrambling in the plasmalemma (Gadella & Harrison, 2002; Harrison & Gadella, 2005; Silva & Gadella, 2006). Changes in intracellular Ca⁺⁺ occur during sperm cooling, and therefore CTC screening may reflect increases in intracellular Ca⁺⁺ concentrations rather than capacitation (Guthrie & Welch, 2005a). So, the question remains, are boar spermatozoa induced to "capacitate" during cooling? Is this the reason for their post-thaw weakness?

An experiment was designed (Paper III), combining several aims, based in the consideration that boar semen frozen in MFP demonstrated better in vitro and in vivo results than with other containers, and that there are [albeit with inter-boar variation (Peña et al., 2006)] differences between portions of the boar ejaculate. The goal was to freeze P1- and P2-spermatozoa in MFP and to compare the outcome, not only post-thaw, but during a series of well-controlled steps during handling and cooling. Spermatozoa were monitored throughout for kinematics, membrane (in)stability and membrane integrity. Moreover, spermatozoa in the different stages of the process of cryopreservation were explored for their capacity to respond to a challenge with bicarbonate at levels present in the site of fertilisation in the pig oviduct (Rodríguez-Martínez, 2007b). The hypothesis tested was that it was thawing, rather than controlled cooling, that seriously affected the plasma membrane architecture and sperm motility of ejaculated boar spermatozoa temporally present in two different sub-sets of seminal plasma P1 and P2). Moreover, we tested the hypothesis that these modifications were not related to "cryocapacitation-like" changes, defined as modifications of sperm plasma phospholipid stability and specific changes in sperm motility. The results showed that for both portions, although there was a

significant decrease in sperm total motility after thawing, motility was maintained over the cooling process, without significant variation among males. Similar results were previously reported (Eriksson et al., 2001; Cremades et al., 2005), but using the entire SRF. Other reports using a similar cryopreservation protocol but different semen manipulation, packages, and motility evaluation, found a sustained and continuous reduction in total motility during the cooling process (Maxwell & Johnson, 1997b). The stability of the plasma membrane was assessed by flow cytometry analyses with a combination of M-540 and Yo-Pro-1. The fluorophore M-540 changes the intensity of its fluorescence in direct relation to the degree of lipid disorder and permits differentiation of stable from unstable membranes while Yo-Pro-1 is a cyanine dye for marking DNA that can help identify changes in permeability of the plasma membrane that lead to membrane disruption and cell-death, accompanied by increases in Yo-Pro-1 staining (Martin et al., 2004; Peña et al., 2005). Early changes in plasma membrane, like the specific exposition of phosphatidylserine (PS, in normal conditions confined to the inner leaflet of the lipid bilayer of the membrane) to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane were also examined with Annexin-V, while dead spermatozoa were monitored by using the DNA marker propidium iodide (PI). Under BTS-incubation conditions at RT, around 90% of the spermatozoa from either portion maintained their plasma membrane stability (low M-540 fluorescence), and during the controlled cooling process, that is, from RT to 5°C, less than 2% of spermatozoa showed lipid scrambling. A major change occurred after thawing with the same pattern for both portions, with around 40-45% of the cells appearing dead. Among those spermatozoa that survived, fewer than 2% depicted lipid disorder in their plasma membrane and less than 1% of them showed PS exteriorisation. These data show that, during controlled cooling, the boar sperm plasma membrane remained stable, and that early capacitation changes do not occur in this period of the lengthy process of cryopreservation. Most of the spermatozoa were alive (~90% for both portions) just before deep-freezing but a large number appeared dead after thawing. The reasons for this outcome are still not clear, but it seems unrelated to any subtle modification in plasma membrane that can be linked to capacitation-like changes; it most likely concerns lethal injury during thawing. This assumption confirms the hypotheses tested and also links to other findings (Guthrie & Welch, 2005b). In any case, the spermatozoa that were alive before cooling, during cooling, and post-thaw, were not capacitated, but could very well be induced to capacitate when exposed to bicarbonate at levels found in vivo in the pig oviduct, where fertilisation normally takes place (Rodríguez-Martínez, 2007b).

The most probable cause of damage to spermatozoa during freezing/thawing is the cellular dehydration/rehydration that causes disruption of the plasma membrane, owing to thermal, mechanical, and/or osmotic stresses imposed upon the membrane (Mazur, 1985; Steponkus & Lynch, 1989). Interestingly, the results reported in **Paper III** showed lack

of significant variation between the males, for which P1-spermatozoa sustained cryopreservation better than P2-spermatozoa. Such results differ from earlier trials (Peña *et al.*, 2006), with inclusion of different boars, thus calling for larger populations to be tested. In theory, the spermatozoa from P1 ought to be less or differently coated with SP-proteins than spermatozoa from P2 (Rodríguez-Martínez *et al.*, 2005), allowing the P1-spermatozoa to be better protected by the extenders simply because of a closer exposure of the plasma membrane to the extender. This might, although the argument is highly speculative, explain the slightly better performance of the P1-spermatozoa during cooling, compared to the P2-spermatozoa (**Paper III**), and, as we shall see later, even after cryopreservation (**Papers III–V**). But, would the surrounding SP cause the apparent higher resilience among P1-spermatozoa?

Incubation of boar spermatozoa with their native SP (usually from the SRF) has documented beneficial effects on avoidance of cold shock (Tamuli & Watson, 1994). Therefore, boar spermatozoa are, during the temperature decrease from 35–30°C at collection to room temperature (RT, 20–22°C), routinely incubated with their surrounding SP prior to the first extension with Beltsville thawing solution (BTS, Pursel & Johnson, 1976). This period of sperm-SP co-incubation (also called "holding time in SP") has ranged in our laboratory from minutes to hours (Eriksson *et al.*, 2001), but it has now been customised to 60 minutes (**Paper I**). But, again... are the differences seen in previous studies (such as **Paper III**) caused by the specific portioned SP?

In Paper IV, boar spermatozoa, primarily or secondarily (i.e., following cleansing and re-exposure) exposed to different well-defined portions of the ejaculated SP (P1 vs P2), were analysed for sperm kinetics using CASA at selected stages of extension, cooling, and freezing-thawing in MFPs. Moreover, spermatozoa were examined PT for plasma membrane intactness, membrane architecture, and chromatin (DNA) integrity, using specific markers/assays such as SYBR-14/PI, Annexin-V, and the sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA), all with flow cytometry as monitoring instrumentation. The hypothesis tested was that the SP-P1 had a differential effect on the spermatozoa. Spermatozoa from P1 (incubated in their own SP) showed the highest percentage of motility during cooling and after thawing, compared to spermatozoa from P2 (bathing in SP-P2). When P1spermatozoa were centrifuged to be cleansed from their original/native SP and were re-exposed to pooled SP from P2, there was a decrease in their motility during all stages checked. When the opposite situation was tested, that is P2-spermatozoa were centrifuged and re-exposed to SP from P1, their motility increased from base levels (i.e., while bathing in their original/native SP), to P1 levels, especially after thawing. These effects of SP on sperm kinematics were not ratified at the plasma membrane level or sperm chromatin structure.

The qualitative and quantitative differences in the SP-protein composition of P1 and P2 presented earlier could explain, at least in part, the better performance of P1-spermatozoa during cooling and after thawing (**Paper IV**). For instance, P1 still contains relatively large proportions of epididymal fluid components, and it is well documented that boar spermatozoa collected from the cauda epididymides sustain better routine freezing compared to ejaculated spermatozoa (Kikuchi *et al.*, 1998), either because of the presence of protective proteins or because the epididymal fluid contains other factors of interest. The positive effect of SP from P1 on total motility was not evidenced in variations at the plasma membrane level, and considering the negative effect of SP from P2 on motility, there is room for speculation that some particular component(s), such as SP-proteins from accessory glands, present in large amounts in P2, could be involved. Even peptides present in large proportions in P2 may interact with the sperm plasma membrane, reducing the motility.

Another factor that could influence boar spermatozoa after ejaculation is bicarbonate, the physiologically ubiquitous ion described earlier. Although indications of its relative presence and levels have been presented elsewhere (Rodríguez-Martínez, 1991), we performed some pilot measurements, reported in Paper IV (see discussion), where P1 had a two-fold lower bicarbonate concentration than P2, with a small variation among boars. Such preliminary assessments were tried again in Paper V (Exp I) to determine if the bicarbonate concentration (and the pH) of the P1 differed from the other portions or fractions of the boar ejaculate (mainly SRF and P2), and moreover (Exp II), whether the relative absence of bicarbonate in the extender promotes sperm survival. Bicarbonate concentration in P1 was significantly lower (13.71 mM/L, P < 0.001) than that of SRF, P2, or the whole ejaculate, which had similar concentrations (19-23 mM/L). The pH of P1 was 7.07, significantly lower than that of P2 (7.32), although there were no significant differences with either SRF or the whole ejaculate. The values of either parameter were statistically similar among males. Bicarbonate levels of ~10-15 mM/L in the extender sustained sperm motility the best over a 120 h-period at 16-17°C. Extension in a medium without bicarbonate (Bic-0) suppressed sperm motility of P1- and P2spermatozoa. Their motility could, however, be restored by re-exposure to exogenous bicarbonate at ~20 mM/L level. Obviously, bicarbonate levels are relevant for boar sperm function.

Could it be that the P1-spermatozoa, which are in the portion of the ejaculate referred to as being the sperm subpopulation that mainly colonises the SR (Rodríguez-Martínez *et al.*, 2005), are gradually exposed *in vivo* (from cauda epididymes and after ejaculation to the sperm reservoir in the oviduct) to differential levels of bicarbonate, levels which, *per se* do not seem high enough to induce capacitation-like changes? (See **Paper III**). And, is this a possible reason for their resilience? Obviously, these spermatozoa are able to capacitate when exposed to bicarbonate concentrations similar to those in the site of fertilisation (**Paper III**). Being that the amount of

bicarbonate in the P2 clearly is higher than in P1, these spermatozoa might be more susceptible to these "capacitation-like" changes. However, none of these hypotheses has been tested, and all require, therefore, further studies.

Summarising the precedent work, it seems that we still have a step to cover: use the accumulated results to attempt the simplification of a cryopreservation protocol that has proven acceptable for some purposes (for instance, sperm motility post-thaw has increased throughout the studies in **Papers I–V**), but is as yet unacceptable in terms of the lengthy procedure involved in taking care of an ejaculate, in order to freeze AI doses. This suboptimality regarding the cumbersomeness of procedures is highly relevant when commercial applications are considered.

Such a simplification of the freezing protocol was attempted in **Paper V** (Exp III) where P1-spermatozoa were held in "their" native SP for 30 min, mixed with LEY and cooled down to $+5^{\circ}$ C within 1.5 h, before being mixed with LEYGO and packed into MFP for customary freezing. The entire procedure, here named "simplified freezing (SF)" lasted 3.5 h compared to the "conventional freezing (CF)" that was used as control procedure, which lasted 8 h. As controls, spermatozoa from the SRF were compared to P1-spermatozoa.

The P1-SF-processed semen showed similar proportions of sperm motility (and kinematics), plasma membrane and acrosome intactness PT, to the SRF-semen frozen customarily (SRF-CF). Mean sperm motility post-thaw ranged from 56% to 69%, the highest percentages being among the P1-SF. Interestingly, there was barely any variation either between sires or withinsire for P1-derived variables, in contrast to SRF, independent of the handling method (CF or SF). The reason behind this maintained P1-sperm survival after this shorter freezing process is yet unknown, and we cannot rule out that differences between males still exist, since the number of boars was also small in this trial. However, the combination of P1 (SP or bicarbonate effects) and the use of the cryobiologically well-suited MFP was clearly beneficial. Obviously, the semen from many more males must be subjected to this methodology in order to further test these findings.

The practical application of SP on the processing of boar semen has been recently reviewed (Kirkwood *et al.*, 2008). An interesting, major role that emerged for SP is the protection of spermatozoa from a "spontaneous capacitation-like" reaction during thawing (Vadnais *et al.*, 2005). However, recent studies have reported that this protection was confined only to boars with good freezability, whose SP has documented improvement of the post-thaw motility of spermatozoa from boars classified as bad freezers (Hernández *et al.*, 2007; Okazaki *et al.*, 2008). However, there is no description of what causes these beneficial effects.

There are several advantages of using this simplified protocol, namely the exclusion of primary extension and the removal of an obviously beneficial SP by centrifugation. Such procedure allows for a quick handling of the

material and removes the necessity of an expensive refrigerated centrifuge. Moreover, while a boar effect was noted throughout the different trials (Papers I-III), such variation was minimised by use of P1-spermatozoa (Papers IV and V), a matter to be included among the advantages of using such a restricted portion of the ejaculate for freezing. Another major advantage of the inclusion of P1 as freezable spermatozoa is not only that these are the "best" spermatozoa to be cryopreserved, but also that it leaves the rest of the collected spermatozoa for liquid semen processing. This simpler protocol seems therefore be an interesting alternative for AI studs to freeze boar semen for gene banking or of AI doses for repopulation or commercial distribution, along with production of conventional semen doses for AI with liquid semen. This strategy would allow the pig industry to, without compromising the routine of the AI centre or the collection schedule of any boar, include in freezing those boars of major interest for breeding and thus increase business profit. Obviously, although all this information seems promising, and since we have studied only a restricted number of boars, more sires must be screened and their semen frozen in this manner and subjected to the ultimate testing for fertility, by running pertinent AI field trials.

Conclusions

- Freezing of highly concentrated boar spermatozoa, particularly in MFP, was possible, providing a suitable number of viable spermatozoa, in a single dose, that could be used for deep intrauterine AI.
- Deep intrauterine AI of highly concentrated spermatozoa in low volume MS or MFP once or twice during oestrus, at different intervals of expected spontaneous ovulation, led to pregnancies. Fertility was highest (60%) when DIU-AI was done -8 to -4h of spontaneous ovulation.
- Controlled cooling and freezing/thawing of spermatozoa from different portions of the boar ejaculate did not induce sperm capacitation-like changes *per se*. The P1-spermatozoa best sustained all processes of cryopreservation and showed the highest survival rates.
- The SP influence on sperm kinematics during conventional freezing was presumably related to different concentrations of either SP proteins or bicarbonate in the different ejaculate portions, being more advantageous for P1.
- Freezing P1 with a simplified protocol, maintaining a low bicarbonate level by excluding primary extension, and removal of SP by centrifugation dramatically reduced the time involved in the handling of the semen (from 8 to 3.5 h), and yielded similar proportions of PT-sperm motility, plasma membrane integrity, and normal acrosome morphology, as when using a conventional protocol. The process, pending testing of more boars *in vitro*, but particularly *in vivo* though field fertility trials, seems preliminarily suitable for commercial use.

References

- Abaigar, T., Barbero, J. & Holt, W.V. (2005). Sperm heterogeneity as revealed by a new approach of sperm motility function. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 40(4), 332.
- Abaigar, T., Holt, W.V., Harrison, R.A. & del Barrio, G. (1999). Sperm subpopulations in boar (Sus scrofa) and gazelle (Gazella dama mhorr) semen as revealed by pattern analysis of computer-assisted motility assessments. *Biology of Reproduction* 60(1), 32-41.
- Almlid, T. & Hofmo, P.O. (1996). A brief review of frozen semen applications under Norwegian AI swine conditions. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 31(1), 169-73.
- Bailey, J.L., Bilodeau, J.F. & Cormier, N. (2000). Semen cryopreservation in domestic animals: a damaging and capacitating phenomenon. *Journal of Andrology* 21(1), 1–7.
- Bailey, J.L. & Buhr, M. (1994). Cryopreservation alters the Ca2+ flux of bovine spermatozoa. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 74, 45–51.
- Bailey, J.L., Morrier, A. & Cormier, N. (2003). Semen cryopreservation in farm species: an update. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 83, 393-01.
- Baker, R.D., Dziuk, P.J. & Norton, H.W. (1968). Effect of volume of semen, number of sperm and drugs on transport of sperm in artificially inseminated gilts. *Journal of Animal Science* 27(1), 88-93.
- Bane, A. (1961). Acrosomal abnormality associated with sterility in boar. Proceedings of 4th International Conference on Animal Reproduction and Artificial Insemination, The Hague, The Netherlands p. 810-17.
- Bathgate, R., Eriksson, B.M., Maxwell, W.M. & Evans, G. (2005). Low dose deep intrauterine insemination of sows with fresh and frozen-thawed spermatozoa *Theriogenology* 63(2), 553-54.
- Bathgate, R., Eriksson, B.M., Thomson, P.C., Maxwell, W.M. & Evans, G. (2008). Field fertility of frozen-thawed boar sperm at low doses using non-surgical, deep uterine insemination. *Animal Reproduction Science* 103(3-4), 323-35.
- Belstra, B.A., Flowers, W.L. & See, M.T. (2004). Factors affecting temporal relationships between estrus and ovulation in commercial sow farms. *Animal Reproduction Science* 84(3-4), 377-94.
- Blesbois, E. (2007). Current status in avian semen cryopreservation. World's Poultry Science Journal 63(2), 213-22.
- Bolarín, A., Roca, J., Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Hernández, M., Vázquez, J.M. & Martínez, E.A. (2006). Dissimilarities in sows' ovarian status at the insemination time could explain

differences in fertility between farms when frozen-thawed semen is used. *Theriogenology* 65(3), 669-80.

- Buhr, M.M., Curtis, E.F. & Kakuda, N.S. (1994). Composition and behavior of head membrane lipids of fresh and cryopreserved boar sperm. *Cryobiology* 31(3), 224–38.
- Bwanga, C.O. (1991). Cryopreservation of boar semen. I: A literature review. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 32(4), 431-53.
- Bwanga, C.O., Ekwall, H. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (1991). Cryopreservation of boar semen. III: Ultrastructure of boar spermatozoa frozen ultra-rapidly at various stages of conventional freezing and thawing. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 32(4), 463-71.
- Caballero, I., Vázquez, J.M., García, E.M., Roca, J., Martínez, E.A., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Ekwall, H. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2006). Immunolocalization and possible functional role of PSP-I/PSP-II heterodimer in highly extended boar spermatozoa. *Journal* of Andrology 27(6), 766-73.
- Caballero, I., Vázquez, J.M., Gil, M.A., Calvete, J.J., Roca, J., Sanz, L., Parrilla, I., García, E.M., Rodríguez-Martínez, H. & Martínez, E.A. (2004). Does seminal plasma PSP-I/PSP-II spermadhesin modulate the ability of boar spermatozoa to penetrate homologous oocytes in vitro? *Journal of Andrology* 25(6), 1004–12.
- Caballero, I., Vázquez, J.M., Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Gil, M.A., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., García, E.M., Roca, J. & Martínez, E.A. (2005). Influence of seminal plasma PSP-I/PSP-II spermadhesin on pig gamete interaction. *Zygote* 13(1), 11-16.
- Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., García, E.M., Caballero, I., Parrilla, I., Martínez, E., Roca, J., Vázquez, J.M., Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Johannisson, A. & Rodríguez Martínez, H. (2005). On the biological function of boar spermadhesin PSP-I/PSP-II. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 40(4), 331.
- Centola, G.M., Raubertas, R.F. & Mattox, J.H. (1992). Cryopreservation of human semen: comparison of cryopreservatives, sources of variability, and prediction of post-thaw survival. *Journal of Andrology* 13(3), 283-88.
- Cormier, N., Sirard, M.A. & Bailey, J.L. (1997). Premature capacitation of bovine spermatozoa is initiated by cryopreservation. *Journal of Andrology* 18(4), 461-68.
- Courtens, J.L. & Rety, J.M. (2001). Numerical simulation for freezing and thawing mammalian spermatozoa: evaluation of cell injuries at differents depths in bags or straws during all steps of the technique. *Genetics Selection Evolution* 33, 83-104.
- Cremades, T., Roca, J., Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Abaigar, T., Vázquez, J.M. & Martínez, E.A. (2005). Kinematic changes during the cryopreservation of boar spermatozoa. *Journal* of Andrology 26(5), 610-18.
- Critser, J.K., Agca, Y. & Woods, E.J. (2002). Cryopreservation of mature and immature gametes. In: DeJonge, C.J. and Barrat, C.L.R. (Eds.) Assisted Reproductive Technology. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press. p. 144-66.
- Dacheux, J.L., Gatti, J.L. & Dacheux, F. (2003). Contribution of epididymal secretory proteins for spermatozoa maturation. *Microscopy Research and Technique* 61(1), 7-17.
- Dostalova, Z., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L. & Topfer-Petersen, E. (1994). Quantitation of boar spermadhesins in accessory sex gland fluids and on the surface of epididymal, ejaculated and capacitated spermatozoa. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1200(1), 48-54.
- Einarsson, S. (1971). Studies on the composition of epididymal content and semen in the boar. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica Supplementum* 36, 1-80.

- Ekwall, H. (2008). Cryo-scanning electron microscopy discloses differences in dehydration of frozen boar semen stored in large containers. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* in press doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00994.x
- Ekwall, H., Hernández, M., Saravia, F. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2007). Cryo-scanning electron microscopy (Cryo-SEM) of boar semen frozen in medium-straws and MiniFlatPacks. *Theriogenology* 67(9), 1463-72.
- Eriksson, B.M., Petersson, H. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2002). Field fertility with exported boar semen frozen in the new flatpack container. *Theriogenology* 58(6), 1065-79.
- Eriksson, B.M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2000a). Deep-freezing of boar semen in plastic film 'cochettes'. Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin Reihe A 47(2), 89-97.
- Eriksson, B.M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2000b). Effect of freezing and thawing rates on the post-thaw viability of boar spermatozoa frozen in FlatPacks and Maxi-straws. *Animal Reproduction Science* 63(3-4), 205-20.
- Eriksson, B.M., Vázquez, J.M., Martínez, E.A., Roca, J., Lucas, X. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2001). Effects of holding time during cooling and of type of package on plasma membrane integrity, motility and in vitro oocyte penetration ability of frozen-thawed boar spermatozoa. *Theriogenology* 55(8), 1593-605.
- Evenson, D.P., Darzynkiewicz, Z. & Melamed, M.R. (1980). Relation of mammalian sperm chromatin heterogeneity to fertility. *Science* 210(4474), 1131-3.
- Fiser, P.S., Fairfull, R.W., Hansen, C., Panich, P. L., Shrestha, J. N. B. & Underhill, L. (1993). The effect of warming velocity on motility and acrosomal integrity of boar sperm as influenced by the rate of freezing and glycerol level. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 34(2), 190-95.
- Fraser, L. & Strzezek, J. (2007). Effect of different procedures of ejaculate collection, extenders and packages on DNA integrity of boar spermatozoa following freezingthawing. *Animal Reproduction Science* 99(3-4), 317-29.
- Fraser, L.R., Abeydeera, L.R. & Niwa, K. (1995). Ca(2+)-regulating mechanisms that modulate bull sperm capacitation and acrosomal exocytosis as determined by chlortetracycline analysis. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 40(2), 233-41.
- Gadella, B.M. & Harrison, R.A. (2000). The capacitating agent bicarbonate induces protein kinase A-dependent changes in phospholipid transbilayer behavior in the sperm plasma membrane. *Development* 127(11), 2407-20.
- Gadella, B.M. & Harrison, R.A. (2002). Capacitation induces cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate-dependent, but apoptosis-unrelated, exposure of aminophospholipids at the apical head plasma membrane of boar sperm cells. *Biology of Reproduction* 67(1), 340-50.
- García, E.M., Vázquez, J.M., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Caballero, I., Parrilla, I., Gil, M.A., Roca, J. & Martínez, E.A. (2006). Dissecting the protective effect of the seminal plasma spermadhesin PSP-I/PSP-II on boar sperm functionality. *Journal of Andrology* 27(3), 434-43.
- Garner, D.L. & Johnson, L.A. (1995). Viability assessment of mammalian sperm using SYBR-14 and propidium iodide. *Biology of Reproduction* 53(2), 276-84.
- Gerrits, R.J., Lunney, J.K., Johnson, L.A., Pursel, V.G., Kraeling, R.R., Rohrer, G.A. & Dobrinsky, J.R. (2005). Perspectives for artificial insemination and genomics to improve global swine populations. *Theriogenology* 63(2), 283–99.

- Gil, M.A., Roca, J., Cremades, T., Hernández, M., Vázquez, J.M., Rodríguez-Martínez, H. & Martínez, E.A. (2005). Does multivariate analysis of post-thaw sperm characteristics accurately estimate in vitro fertility of boar individual ejaculates? *Theriogenology* 64(2), 305-16.
- Gilmore, J.A., Liu, J., Peter, A.T. & Critser, J.K. (1998). Determination of plasma membrane characteristics of boar spermatozoa and their relevance to cryopreservation. *Biology of Reproduction* 58(1), 28-36.
- Graham, E.F., Rajamannan, A.H.J., Schmehl, M.K.L., Maki-Laurila, M. & Bower, R.E. (1971). Preliminary report on procedure and rationale for freeezing boar spermatozoa. *Artificial Insemination Digest* 19, 12-14.
- Groβfeld, R., Sieg, B., Struckmann, C., Frenzel, A., Maxwell, W.M. & Rath, D. (2008). New aspects of boar semen freezing strategies. *Theriogenology* 70(8), 1225-33
- Guthrie, H.D. & Welch, G.R. (2005a). Effects of hypothermic liquid storage and cryopreservation on basal and induced plasma membrane phospholipid disorder and acrosome exocytosis in boar spermatozoa. *Reproduction Fertility and Development* 17(4), 467-77.
- Guthrie, H.D. & Welch, G.R. (2005b). Impact of storage prior to cryopreservation on plasma membrane function and fertility of boar sperm. *Theriogenology* 63(2), 396-410.
- Hancock, J.L. (1957). The morphology of boar spermatozoa. *Journal of the Royal Microscopical Society* 76(3), 84-97.
- Harrison, R.A., Ashworth, P.J. & Miller, N.G. (1996). Bicarbonate/CO2, an effector of capacitation, induces a rapid and reversible change in the lipid architecture of boar sperm plasma membranes. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 45(3), 378–91.
- Harrison, R.A. & Gadella, B.M. (2005). Bicarbonate-induced membrane processing in sperm capacitation. *Theriogenology* 63(2), 342-51.
- Hartree, E.F. (1962). Sialic acid in the bulbo-urethral glands of the boar. Nature 196, 483-84.
- Hernández, M., Roca, J., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Muiño-Blanco, T., Cebrián-Pérez, J.A., Vázquez, J.M. & Martínez, E. (2007). Cryosurvival and in vitro fertilizing capacity after thaw is improved when boar spermatozoa are frozen in the presence of seminal plasma from good freezer boars. *Journal of Andrology* 28(5), 689-97.
- Holt, C., Holt, W.V. & Moore, H.D. (1996). Choice of operating conditions to minimize sperm subpopulation sampling bias in the assessment of boar semen by computer-assisted semen analysis. *Journal of Andrology* 17(5), 587-96.
- Holt, W.V. & Harrison, R.A. (2002). Bicarbonate stimulation of boar sperm motility via a protein kinase A-dependent pathway: between-cell and between-ejaculate differences are not due to deficiencies in protein kinase A activation. *Journal of Andrology* 23(4), 557-65.
- Hunter, R.H. (1981). Sperm transport and reservoirs in the pig oviduct in relation to the time of ovulation. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 63(1), 109-17.
- Hunter, R.H. (1984). Pre-ovulatory arrest and peri-ovulatory redistribution of competent spermatozoa in the isthmus of the pig oviduct. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 72(1), 203-11.
- Hunter, R.H. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2004). Capacitation of mammalian spermatozoa in vivo, with a specific focus on events in the Fallopian tubes. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 67(2), 243-50.

- Januskauskas, A., Johannisson, A. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2001). Assessment of sperm quality through fluorometry and sperm chromatin structure assay in relation to field fertility of frozen-thawed semen from Swedish AI bulls. *Theriogenology* 55(4), 947-61.
- Januskauskas, A., Lukoseviciute, K., Nagy, S., Johannisson, A. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (2005). Assessment of the efficacy of Sephadex G-15 filtration of bovine spermatozoa for cryopreservation. *Theriogenology* 63(1), 160-78.
- Jeyendran, R.S., Van der Ven, H.H., Perez-Pelaez, M., Crabo, B.G. & Zaneveld, L.J. (1984). Development of an assay to assess the functional integrity of the human sperm membrane and its relationship to other semen characteristics. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 70(1), 219-28.
- Johnson, L.A. (1985). Fertility results using frozen boar spermatozoa. In: Johnsson, L.A. and Larsson, K. (Eds.) Proceedings of Deep Freezing of Boar Semen, Uppsala, p. 199-224.
- Johnson, L.A., Weitze, K.F., Fiser, P. & Maxwell, W.M. (2000). Storage of boar semen. Animal Reproduction Science 62(1-3), 143-72.
- Jonakova, V., Manaskova, P. & Ticha, M. (2007). Separation, characterization and identification of boar seminal plasma proteins. *Journal of Chromatography B, Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 849(1-2), 307-14.
- Kikuchi, K., Nagai, T., Kashiwazaki, N., Ikeda, H., Noguchi, J., Shimada, A., Soloy, E. & Kaneko, H. (1998). Cryopreservation and ensuing in vitro fertilization ability of boar spermatozoa from epididymides stored at 4 degrees C. *Theriogenology* 50(4), 615-23.
- Kirkwood, R.N., Vadnais, M.L. & Abad, M. (2008). Practical application of seminal plasma. *Theriogenology* 70(8), 1364-67
- Krueger, C. & Rath, D. (2000). Intrauterine insemination in sows with reduced sperm number. *Reproduction Fertility and Development* 12(1-2), 113-17.
- Krueger, C., Rath, D. & Johnson, L.A. (1999). Low dose insemination in synchronized gilts. *Theriogenology* 52(8), 1363-73.
- Kumar, S., Millar, J.D. & Watson, P.F. (2003). The effect of cooling rate on the survival of cryopreserved bull, ram, and boar spermatozoa: a comparison of two controlled-rate cooling machines. *Cryobiology* 46(3), 246-53.
- Larsson, K. & Einarsson, S. (1976). Fertility of deep frozen boar spermatozoa: influence of thawing diluents and of boars. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 17(1), 43-62.
- Leibo, S.P., McGrath, J.J. & Cravalho, E.G. (1978). Microscopic observation of intracellular ice formation in unfertilized mouse ova as a function of cooling rate. *Cryobiology* 15(3), 257-71.
- Levis, D.G.S., Burroughs, S. & Williams, S. (2002). Use of intra-uterine insemination of pigs: pros, cons and economics. Proceedings of 33rd Annual Meeting, American Association of Swine Veterinarians, Kansas, MO, 39-62.
- Litvin, T.N., Kamenetsky, M., Zarifyan, A., Buck, J. & Levin, L.R. (2003). Kinetic properties of "soluble" adenylyl cyclase. Synergism between calcium and bicarbonate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278(18), 15922-26.
- Manaskova, P. & Jonakova, V. (2008). Localization of porcine seminal plasma (PSP) proteins in the boar reproductive tract and spermatozoa. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology* 78(1), 40-48.
- Mann, T. & Lutwak-Mann, C. (1981). *Male Reproductive Function and Semen*. First edition. New York: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.

- Martin, G., Sabido, O., Durand, P. & Levy, R. (2004). Cryopreservation induces an apoptosis-like mechanism in bull sperm. *Biology of Reproduction* 71(1), 28-37.
- Martínez, E.A., Vázquez, J.M., Parrilla, I., Cuello, C., Gil, M.A., Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Roca, J. & Vázquez, J.L. (2006). Incidence of unilateral fertilizations after low dose deep intrauterine insemination in spontaneously ovulating sows under field conditions. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 41(1), 41-47.
- Martínez, E.A., Vázquez, J.M., Roca, J., Lucas, X., Gil, M.A., Parrilla, I., Vázquez, J.L. & Day, B.N. (2001a). Successful non-surgical deep intrauterine insemination with small numbers of spermatozoa in sows. *Reproduction* 122(2), 289-96.
- Martínez, E.A., Vázquez, J.M., Roca, J., Lucas, X., Gil, M.A., Parrilla, I., Vázquez, J.L. & Day, B.N. (2002). Minimum number of spermatozoa required for normal fertility after deep intrauterine insemination in non-sedated sows. *Reproduction* 123(1), 163-70.
- Martínez, E.A., Vázquez, J.M., Roca, J., Lucas, X., Gil, M.A. & Vázquez, J.L. (2001b). Deep intrauterine insemination and embryo transfer in pigs. In: Geisert, R.D., Niemann, H. and Doberska, C. (Eds.) *Control of Pig Reproduction VI*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, p. 301-11.
- Mathevon, M., Buhr, M.M. & Dekkers, J.C. (1998). Environmental, management, and genetic factors affecting semen production in Holstein bulls. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81(12), 3321-30.
- Maxwell, W.M., de Graaf, S.P., Ghaoui Rel, H. & Evans, G. (2007). Seminal plasma effects on sperm handling and female fertility. Society of Reproduction and Fertility Suppl 64, 13-38.
- Maxwell, W.M. & Johnson, L.A. (1997a). Chlortetracycline analysis of boar spermatozoa after incubation, flow cytometric sorting, cooling, or cryopreservation. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 46(3), 408-18.
- Maxwell, W.M. & Johnson, L.A. (1997b). Membrane status of boar spermatozoa after cooling or cryopreservation. *Theriogenology* 48(2), 209-19.
- Maxwell, W.M. & Johnson, L.A. (1999). Physiology of spermatozoa at high dilution rates: the influence of seminal plasma. *Theriogenology* 52(8), 1353-62.
- Maxwell, W.M., Long, C.R., Johnson, L.A., Dobrinsky, J.R. & Welch, G.R. (1998). The relationship between membrane status and fertility of boar spermatozoa after flow cytometric sorting in the presence or absence of seminal plasma. *Reproduction Fertility and Development* 10(5), 433-40.
- Mazur, P. (1985). Basic concepts in freezing cells. In: Johnson, L.A. and Larsson, K. (Eds.) *Proceedings of Deep Freezing of Boar Semen*, Uppsala, Sweden, p. 91-111.
- Mazur, P., Leibo, S.P. & Chu, E.H. (1972). A two-factor hypothesis of freezing injury: evidence from Chinese hamster tissue-culture cells. *Experimental Cell Research* 71(2), 345-55.
- Mazur, P., Leibo, S.P. & Seidel, G.E., Jr. (2008). Cryopreservation of the germplasm of animals used in biological and medical research: importance, impact, status, and future directions. *Biology of Reproduction* 78(1), 2-12.
- Mburu, J.N., Einarsson, S., Dalin, A.M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (1995). Ovulation as determined by transrectal ultrasonography in multiparous sows: relationships with oestrous symptoms and hormonal profiles. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin Reihe A* 42(4), 285-92.

- Michalak, M. (2005). GEDIS[®] AI catheter impact on reproductive performance and labor savings. Proc of the Allan D Leman Swine Conference. *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, Minneapolis, Minnessotta, USA: 121-24.
- Nimtz, M., Grabenhorst, E., Conradt, H.S., Sanz, L. & Calvete, J.J. (1999). Structural characterization of the oligosaccharide chains of native and crystallized boar seminal plasma spermadhesin PSP-I and PSP-II glycoforms. *European Journal of Biochemistry /* FEBS 265(2), 703-18.
- Okamura, N., Tajima, Y., Soejima, A., Masuda, H. & Sugita, Y. (1985). Sodium bicarbonate in seminal plasma stimulates the motility of mammalian spermatozoa through direct activation of adenylate cyclase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 260(17), 9699-705.
- Okazaki, T., Abe, S., Yoshida, S. & Shimada, M. (2008). Seminal plasma damages sperm during cryopreservation, but its presence during thawing improves semen quality and conception rates in boars with poor post-thaw semen quality. *Theriogenology* in press, doi:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.08.014
- Peña, F.J., Johannisson, A., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2003a). Antioxidant supplementation in vitro improves boar sperm motility and mitochondrial membrane potential after cryopreservation of different fractions of the ejaculate. *Animal Reproduction Science* 78(1-2), 85-98.
- Peña, F.J., Johannisson, A., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2003b). Assessment of fresh and frozen-thawed boar semen using an Annexin-V assay: a new method of evaluating sperm membrane integrity. *Theriogenology* 60(4), 677-89.
- Peña, F.J., Johannisson, A., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2004). Antioxidant supplementation of boar spermatozoa from different fractions of the ejaculate improves cryopreservation: changes in sperm membrane lipid architecture. *Zygote* 12(2), 117-24.
- Peña, F.J., Saravia, F., Johannisson, A., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2005). A new and simple method to evaluate early membrane changes in frozen-thawed boar spermatozoa. *International Journal of Andrology* 28(2), 107-14.
- Peña, F.J., Saravia, F., Nuñez-Martínez, I., Johannisson, A., Wallgren, M. & Rodríguez Martínez, H. (2006). Do different portions of the boar ejaculate vary in their ability to sustain cryopreservation? *Animal Reproduction Science* 93(1-2), 101-13.
- Perez-Llano, B., Lorenzo, J.L., Yenes, P., Trejo, A. & Garcia-Casado, P. (2001). A short hypoosmotic swelling test for the prediction of boar sperm fertility. *Theriogenology* 56(3), 387-98.
- Polge, C., Salamon, S. & Wilmut, I. (1970). Fertilizing capacity of frozen boar semen following surgical insemination. *The Veterinary Record* 87(15), 424-29.
- Pursel, V.G. & Johnson, L.A. (1976). Frozen boar spermatozoa: methods of thawing pellets. Journal of Animal Science 42(4), 927-31.
- Pursel, V.G., Johnson, L.A. & Schulman, L.L. (1973). Effect of dilution, seminal plasma and incubation period on cold shock susceptibility of boar spermatozoa. *Journal of Animal Science* 37(2), 528-31.
- Quintero-Moreno, A., Rigau, T. & Rodriguez-Gil, J.E. (2004). Regression analyses and motile sperm subpopulation structure study as improving tools in boar semen quality analysis. *Theriogenology* 61(4), 673-90.
- Rathi, R., Colenbrander, B., Bevers, M.M. & Gadella, B.M. (2001). Evaluation of in vitro capacitation of stallion spermatozoa. *Biology of Reproduction* 65(2), 462-70.

- Reed, H.C. (1985). Current use of frozen boar semen future need of frozen boar semen. In: Johnson, L.A. and Larsson, K. (Eds.) *Proceedings of Deep Freezing of Boar Semen*, Uppsala, Sweden, p. 225-37.
- Reed, H.C.B. (1982). Artificial Insemination. In: Cole, D.J.A. and Foxcroft, G.R. (Eds.) Control of Pig Reproduction. London: Butterworth Scientific, p. 65-90.
- Roca, J., Carvajal, G., Lucas, X., Vázquez, J.M. & Martínez, E.A. (2003). Fertility of weaned sows after deep intrauterine insemination with a reduced number of frozen-thawed spermatozoa. *Theriogenology* 60(1), 77-87.
- Roca, J., Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Vázquez, J.M., Bolarín, A., Hernández, M., Saravia, F., Wallgren, M. & Martínez, E.A. (2006). Strategies to improve the fertility of frozenthawed boar semen for artificial insemination. In: Ashworth, C.J. and Kraeling, R.R. (Eds.) *Control of Pig Reproduction VII*. Manor Farm, Thrumpton, UK: Nottingham University Press, p. 261-75.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (1991). Aspects of the electrolytic composition of boar epididymal fluid with reference to sperm maturation and storage. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* Suppl 1, 13-27.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2007a). Reproductive biotechnology in pigs: what will remain? In: Wiseman, J., Varley, M.A., McOrsit, S. and Kemp, B. (Eds.) *Paradigms in Pig Science*. Nottingham, UK: Nottingham University Press, p. 263-302.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2007b). Role of the oviduct in sperm capacitation. *Theriogenology* 68 Suppl 1, S138-46.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Ekstedt, E. & Einarsson, S. (1990). Acidification of epididymal fluid in the boar. *International Journal of Andrology* 13(3), 238-43.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, H., Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Tienthai, P., Johannisson, A., Vázquez, J.M., Martínez, E., Roca, J., Sanz, L. & Calvete, J.J. (2005). Boar spermatozoa in the oviduct. *Theriogenology* 63(2), 514–35.
- Rodríguez Martínez, H. & Ekwall, H. (1998). Electron microscopy in the assessment of cryopreserved spermatozoa viability. *Microscopy & Analysis* May, 11-13.
- Sellés, E., Walgren, M., Gadea, J. & Rodríguez Martínez, H. (2001). Sperm viability and capacitation-like changes in fractions of boar semen after storage and freezing. *Proceedings* of 6th International Conference on Pig Reproduction, Missouri, USA. 1:51.
- Silva, P.F. & Gadella, B.M. (2006). Detection of damage in mammalian sperm cells. *Theriogenology* 65(5), 958-78.
- Simonsson, A. (1994). Näringsrekommendationer och fodermedelstabeller till svin (Nutritional recommendations and feedstuff for swine). Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. 71
- Soede, N.M., Noordhuizen, J.P. & Kemp, B. (1992). The duration of ovulation in pigs, studied by transrectal ultrasonography, is not related to early embryonic diversity. *Theriogenology* 38(4), 653-66.
- Soede, N.M., Wetzels, C.C., Zondag, W., de Koning, M.A. & Kemp, B. (1995a). Effects of time of insemination relative to ovulation, as determined by ultrasonography, on fertilization rate and accessory sperm count in sows. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 104(1), 99-106.

- Soede, N.M., Wetzels, C.C., Zondag, W., Hazeleger, W. & Kemp, B. (1995b). Effects of a second insemination after ovulation on fertilization rate and accessory sperm count in sows. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 105(1), 135-40.
- Steponkus, P.L. & Lynch, D.V. (1989). Freeze/thaw-induced destabilization of the plasma membrane and the effects of cold acclimation. *Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes* 21(1), 21-41.
- Steverink, D.W., Soede, N.M., Bouwman, E.G. & Kemp, B. (1998). Semen backflow after insemination and its effect on fertilisation results in sows. *Animal Reproduction Science* 54(2), 109-19.
- Tamuli, M.K. & Watson, P.F. (1994). Cold resistance of live boar spermatozoa during incubation after ejaculation. *The Veterinary Record* 135(7), 160-2.
- Terqui, M., Guillouet, P., Maurel, M.C. & Martinat-Botte, F. (2000). Relationship between peri-oestrus progesterone levels and time of ovulation by echography in pigs and influence of the interval between ovulation and artificial insemination (AI) on litter size. *Reproduction Nutrition Development* 40(4), 393-404.
- Thomas, A.D., Meyers, S.A. & Ball, B.A. (2006). Capacitation-like changes in equine spermatozoa following cryopreservation. *Theriogenology* 65(8), 1531-50.
- Thurston, L.M., Holt, W.V. & Watson, P.F. (2003). Post-thaw functional status of boar spermatozoa cryopreserved using three controlled rate freezers: a comparison. *Theriogenology* 60(1), 101-13.
- Thurston, L.M., Siggins, K., Mileham, A.J., Watson, P.F. & Holt, W.V. (2002). Identification of amplified restriction fragment length polymorphism markers linked to genes controlling boar sperm viability following cryopreservation. *Biology of Reproduction* 66(3), 545-54.
- Thurston, L.M., Watson, P.F., Mileham, A.J. & Holt, W.V. (2001). Morphologically distinct sperm subpopulations defined by Fourier shape descriptors in fresh ejaculates correlate with variation in boar semen quality following cryopreservation. *Journal of Andrology* 22(3), 382-94.
- Tienthai, P., Johannisson, A. & Rodríguez-Martínez, H. (2004). Sperm capacitation in the porcine oviduct. Animal Reproduction Science 80(1-2), 131-46.
- Topfer-Petersen, E., Romero, A., Varela, P.F., Ekhlasi-Hundrieser, M., Dostalova, Z., Sanz, L. & Calvete, J.J. (1998). Spermadhesins: a new protein family: facts, hypotheses and perspectives. *Andrologia* 30(4-5), 217-24.
- Tsien, R.Y. (1989). Fluorescent indicators of ion concentrations. *Methods in Cell Biology* 30, 127-56.
- Vadnais, M.L., Kirkwood, R.N., Specher, D.J. & Chou, K. (2005). Effects of extender, incubation temperature, and added seminal plasma on capacitation of cryopreserved, thawed boar sperm as determined by chlortetracycline staining. *Animal Reproduction Science* 90(3-4), 347-54.
- Vadnais, M.L. & Roberts, K.P. (2007). Effects of seminal plasma on cooling-induced capacitative changes in boar sperm. *Journal of Andrology* 28(3), 416-22.
- Viring, S. & Einarsson, S. (1981). Sperm distribution within the genital tract of naturally inseminated gilts. *Nordisk Veterinaermedizin* 33(3), 145-49.

- Waberski, D., Weitze, K.F., Gleumes, T., Schwarz, M., Willmen, T. & Petzold, R. (1994). Effect of time of insemination relative to ovulation on fertility with liquid and frozen boar semen. *Theriogenology* 42(5), 831-40.
- Wagner, H.G. & Thibier, M. (2000). World statistics for artificial insemination in small ruminants and swine. Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress on Animal Reproduction, Stockholm, Sweden. Vol 2, 15:3.
- Watson, P.F. (1979). The preservation of semen in mammals. In: Finn, C.A. (Ed.) Oxford Reviews of Reproductive Biology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press), p. 283-350.
- Watson, P.F. (1995). Recent developments and concepts in the cryopreservation of spermatozoa and the assessment of their post-thawing function. *Reproduction Fertility and Development* 7(4), 871-91.
- Watson, P.F. & Behan, J.R. (2002). Intrauterine insemination of sows with reduced sperm numbers: results of a commercially based field trial. *Theriogenology* 57(6), 1683-93.
- Westendorf, P., Richter, L. & Treu, H. (1975). [Deep freezing of boar sperm. Laboratory and insemination results using the Hulsenberger paillete method]. *Deutsche Tierärztliche Wochenschrift* 82(7), 261-67.
- White, I.G. (1958). Biochemical aspects of mammalian semen. *Animal Breeding Abstracts* 26, 109.
- Xu, X., Ding, J., Seth, P.C., Harbison, D.S. & Foxcroft, G.R. (1996). In vitro fertilization of in vitro matured pig oocytes: effects of boar and ejaculate fraction. *Theriogenology* 45(4), 745-55.
- Yoshida, M. (2000). Conservation of sperms: current status and new trends. Animal Reproduction Science 60-61, 349-55.
- Zhang, B.R., Buhr, M., Kroetschd, T. & Leibo, S.P. (2001). Glycine betaine improves survival of fresh bovine spermatozoa. *Reproduction Fertility and Development* 13(2-3), 187-92.

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Division of Reproduction (former Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology), Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Science and Animal Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala, Sweden. Financial support was provided by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS) and the Swedish Farmers' Foundation for Research in Agriculture (SLF).

After six years living at "OG", I would firstly thank all the Heads of the department/division during my stay; namely Professors Stig Einarsson, Hans Kindall, Heriberto Rodríguez-Martínez and Lennart Söderquist, for placing all needed facilities at my complete disposal and for always, no matter how things were changing, keeping "OG" with a pleasant atmosphere to work.

I would then like to express my gratitude to a lot of people, that in different ways and times, had –somehow– a relation to my thesis,

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main scientific supervisor Heriberto Rodríguez-Martínez. You introduced me to the amazing world of pig reproduction. Thank you for sharing with me your inexhaustible capacity to create and develop new ideas in the pursuit of improving my work. You had always demonstrated pragmatism and critical sight when looking for eclectic solutions during the adventure of doing science. Thank you for your invaluable guidance along this long, educating voyage.

Nothing will be same without the very special help and support from Margareta Wallgren, "Kulla", my second supervisor, co-author in all my papers and a wonderful person, always plenty of energy to start any work, much earlier than me and never refusing to help, anytime, including weekends.

Anders Johannisson, our flow cytometer "guru" and my co-supervisor and co-author in most of my papers, thanks for your kindness and for always having the best disposition to work with my samples.

To all my co-authors in the papers involved in this thesis, Szabolcs Nagy, Tuempong Wongtawan, Nacho Caballero, Marta Hernández, Juan José Calvete, Libia Sanz, Fernando Peña, Jordi Roca and Hans Ekwall, for being always positive in your comments and for your timeless collaboration.

To Karin Selin-Wretling and Annika Rikberg, for their skilful collaboration –at any time– in all logistic and technical support in all experiments and the work in the sperm lab.

The late Åsa Jansson, I will never forget your example of optimism and perseverance, you were a wonderful person. You will be always missed.

My colleagues in Sweden, from Sweden and from this global village, some of them co-authors in some papers, but mostly very nice friends from the "OG-team"; Renée Båge, Ann-Sofi Bergqvist, Linda Spjuth, the Ylva subset: Ylva Brandt, Ylva Persson and Ylva Hedberg, Ulrika Grönlund, Bhuphender Sing, Triin Hallap, Annop Suriyasomboon, Marco de Ambrogi, Seri Koonjaenak, Yoseph Mekasha Gebre, Yahong Zhu, Sara Persson, Jatesada Jiwakanon, Kristina Nordéus, Bojana Bobic Gavrilovic, Branislav Lakic, Paweena Thuwanut, Cristina Ortega-Ferrusola, Eva Flores, Fikre Lobago, Johanna Lindahl, Andrea Lang, Kaywalee Chatdarong, Paisan Thientai, Ulrika Hermansson, Hitesh Awasthi, Ants Kavak, Sylvia Sancho, Joan Ballester and Antonio Ortega.

To a special group of colleagues from Murcia with whom I shared great moments of hard work and friendship; Cristina Cuello, Marta Hernández, Eva García and Ignacio Caballero.

To Birgitta Berner and Marie Sundberg, thanks for your help to solve all sort of administrative problems.

A lot of thanks to Mari Wallbring, Carola Jansson, Ulrika Mattsson, Helen Gille, Marie Sannerstedt, Bo Fred, Kjell-Ove Eklund, and Dennis Larsson for their great help at any moment in the barn and also to Kjell-Åke Ahlin for his technical support and for solving all my, often "self-created" problems with the PC technology.

Jatesada Jiwakanon and Mario Briones, my two statistical wisemen, thanks so much for try to teach me an easy way to understand statistics (I never made it...), but mostly for answering -over and over again- the same questions...

To Vilma Sanhueza, Samuel Valenzuela, Aldo Capurro, Cecilia Ramírez, Jose Carlos Rios, Antonio Fernández, Jerónimo López, Joaquin Porras Tomas Partl, Petra Partl, Petra Hall, Mark Garner, for all the nice moments we had shared in Uppsala, especially when the day light is long.

To my Uppsala family members; Pato, Annika and Oliver, for letting me share all the problems and domestic discussions that a family always has, but mostly for the great moments we enjoyed.

To my colleagues and friends Alejandro Santa María and José F. Cox, for their selfless support and –mainly– for taking hand of my responsibilities at the faculty in Chile.

My best thoughts go to my parents Fernando and Raquel and my brothers Iván and Pablo, for being such a wonderful family.

The late Rosa Matus, my grandmother and a wonderful woman.

To the mother of my "nenes", Paola Espinoza, for taking such great care of our children. You had, for a loooooooooooog period, been both a mother and father for them, thank you!

El mas profundo agradecimiento, muchas, muchísimas, infinitas gracias a Francisca, María Isidora y Sebastián, mis nenes, gracias por ser las personas más amorosas y comprensivas del mundo y aceptar, como adultos, la ausencia del papá. Sin vuestro amor, comprensión y apoyo, este humilde trabajo no hubiera sido posible.